
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD AGENDA 
 

 
Tuesday, 1 March 2022 at 2.00 pm in the Microsoft Teams - Meeting to be held  

virtually via Microsoft Teams 

 

From the Chief Executive, Sheena Ramsey 

Item 
 

Business 
 

1   Minutes of last meeting (Pages 3 - 12) 

 

2   Workforce Development and Training (Pages 13 - 14) 

 
Report of Senior Workforce Development Adviser 

 
3   MSET Annual Report (Pages 15 - 16) 

 
Report of MSET Chair, Northumbria Police 

 
4   Safeguarding Children Unit - Annual Report (Pages 17 - 46) 

 
Report of IROs and Child Protection Chairs 

 

5   Learning from Inspections, Peer Reviews and Learning Reviews Annual 
Report (Pages 47 - 52) 

 
Report of LSCB Business Manager 

 
6   Youth Justice Service Update (Pages 53 - 62) 

 
Report of Team Manager, Youth Justice and Specialist Support Team 

 
7   Regional Adoption Agency Report (Pages 63 - 68) 

 
Report of the Deputy Strategic Director, Children’s Social Care and Early Help 

 
8   2022/23 Draft Work Programme (Pages 69 - 70) 

 
For discussion 

 
9   Date and Time of Next Meeting  

 
Tuesday 24 May 2022 at 2.00pm 

 
 
 

Contact: Rosalyn Patterson - Email: rosalynpatterson@gateshead.gov.uk 

Tel: 0191 4332088, Date: 23 February 2022 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 

GATESHEAD METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD MEETING 

 
Tuesday, 14 December 2021 

 
  

PRESENT: Councillor Gary Haley Gateshead Council (Chair) 
 Councillor Angela Douglas Gateshead Council 

 Councillor Freda Geddes Gateshead Council 
 Councillor Hazel Weatherley Gateshead Council 
 Councillor Sheila Gallagher Gateshead Council 

 Councillor Ian Patterson Gateshead Council 
 Linda Hubbucks CCG 

 Dr Kate Ward CNTW 
 Nicola Barrass Care Leavers 
 Malcolm Hedley Foster Carers 

 Sarah Diggle Secondary School Governors 
 Caroline O'Neill Strategic Director, Children's Adult and 

Families 
 Andrea Houlahan Deputy Strategic Director for Chhildren Social 

Care and Early Help 

 Moira Richardson Public Health 
 Deborah Ewart Housing 

 Chris Hulme Children's Rights Officer 
 Kirsty Sprudd Gateshead System - Commissioning 
 Jean Thompson Virtual School Head for LAC 

 Jill Little Vice Chair - Corporate Parenting Partnership 
 

IN ATTENDANCE:  Rosalyn Patterson Gateshead Council 

 
 
1 APOLOGIES  

 

 Apologies for absence were received from Lynne Colledge. 

 
2 MINUTES OF LAST MEETING  

 

 The minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2021 were agreed as a correct 
record. 

  
There were no matters arising from the minutes. 
 

3 EDUCATION ANNUAL REPORT  
 

 The Board received the Virtual School Education report. 
  
It was reported that, as of 30 November 2021, there were 445 children looked after 

in Gateshead between the ages of 0-18 years old. 80 children within this cohort 
receive education out of the Borough.  75 of these looked after children have an 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 

EHCP and 47 receive SEN support. 
  

Pupil Premium Plus grant has increase to £2345 per child for children in care. The 
Virtual School retains £600 for additional service delivery to children in care and 

schools.  The funding is distributed across schools based on two completed 
Personal Education Plans (PEPs) per year. It was noted that schools have to 
evidence the spend through PEPs and the service does challenge schools on its use 

of Pupil Premium Plus.  It was confirmed that the number of returned PEPs from 
schools has increased following a change in process. There is now two windows for 

PEP submissions; October / November and April / May, this therefore focuses 
schools to ensure they return 6 monthly PEPs. The Virtual School quality assures 
the PEPs and picks up any actions, in particular around transitions. The April / May 

submission therefore gives the Virtual School opportunity to put support in place in 
advance of the transition being made.   

  
It was reported that the rate for PEP return in Gateshead is 95% and 80% for out of 
borough education.  It was acknowledged that this is the highest return for several 

years.  The team is now focused on ensuring out of borough returns, which is 
gradually increasing. 

  
As a result of Covid and new virtual ways of working the virtual school team has 
been able to attend more PEP Reviews. This has led to building better relationships 

with schools, particularly with those schools that are out of the borough. 
  

In terms of educational attainment there were 37 looked after children in year 11 for 
2020/21. As no exams were held due to the pandemic, the results were based on 
teacher assessment. There were 9 children with five passes at grade 4 and above, 

including maths and English, this equates to 24%. There were 12 children (32%) 
with five passes at grade 4 and above, not necessarily including Maths and English. 

There were 19 children (51%) achieving five passes at grade 1 and above and 31 
children (84%) achieving one pass at grade 1 and above. 
  

In relation to Key Stage 1 attainment there we 20 pupils in the cohort for 2020/21, 
attainment would previously have been measured through SATs results. For this 

year teacher assessment showed; 55% achieved the expected level in writing, 60% 
in reading, 50% in Maths and 50% achieving the expected level in all three areas.   
  

It was noted that attainment under teacher assessment is much better than in exams 
which is evidence that looked after children need to be supported through other 

ways of learning. 
  
It was reported that access to Higher Education for looked after children is much 

lower with the national average being 13%. In Gateshead this figure was 12.6% in 
2019, 18% in 2020 and 21.2% in 2021, therefore significantly higher than the 

national average.  Most of these young people graduated successfully.  Research 
has shown that 25-30% of care leavers will undertake higher education in later life. 
  

It was noted that there have been no permanent exclusions for looked after children 
since 2019. The Virtual School works hard to prevent exclusions and will challenge 

schools. There have been some cases where alternative provision and managed 

Page 4



 

moves have had to be undertaken but a permanent exclusion would be a very last 
resort for a child in care. 

  
The number of fixed term exclusions is higher than the Virtual School would like, 

therefore monitoring has been increased and all schools have been asked to report 
all fixed term exclusions of looked after children. This will help the team support that 
young person to stop the situation escalating further.  During the academic year 

2020/21 there were 20 looked after children who received fixed term exclusions, a 
total of 31 fixed term exclusions which equates to 83.5 days of missed education. 

  
There is now a new resource which replaces the ‘letterbox programme’, called the 
Treasure Chest. This includes Maths and English resources predominantly for Key 

Stage 1 and 2 and is aimed at getting looked after children learning at home with 
their carers.  The feedback has been very positive so far and a full evaluation will be 

carried out once the second pack has been delivered this month. 
  
The team now has three very experienced Education Support Workers with the most 

recent team member qualified and skilled in; counselling, cognitive behaviour 
therapy, trauma and attachment, psychology and theraplay. 

  
An Education Enrichment Programme has been developed by the Virtual School, 
this is led by an Outdoor Activity Leader and offers experiences beyond that of the 

classroom. This is a twice weekly programme for those pupils struggling to attend 
and engage with their schools. The programme is accredited and is becoming 

increasingly popular. The programme is aimed at building confidence and social 
skills so the young person can get back into school, it offers an holistic approach to 
learning. 

  
Due to the pandemic the Pathways2Work Project has not been able to run, however 

it is expected that this will be developed through the year. The project is aimed at 
helping young people in years 10-13 to find work experience to develop confidence 
and increase life chances. 

  
It was reported that for previously looked after and adopted children the Virtual 

School Head continues to be a source of advice and information. Work is ongoing to 
try and develop a network of adopters to offer training and information sharing. 
  

The Education Psychologist continues to work with the Virtual School one day per 
week. It was noted that, due to a national shortage of EP’s this cannot be extended. 

The psychologist is involved directly in case work and statutory processes such as 
EHCP’s, delivers training and monitors transition. 
  

It was reported that there is a DfE piloted project for all Virtual School Heads to 
strategically look at the education of children who have or have had a Social Worker. 

This therefore extends the cohort significantly and there is a need to work closely 
with schools to manage the needs of this large cohort. The aim of this is to make 
visible the disadvantages that children with a social worker can experience and to 

narrow the gap in attainment.   
  

A pilot programme is currently being run at Kingsmeadow Secondary School, an 

Page 5



 

extensive robust training programme in trauma informed practice using virtual reality 
technology has been rolled out. The programme has been very successful in getting 

all staff in the school to access the training and is beginning to change mindsets of 
staff.  The aim is to roll this out to all schools. An evaluation of the programme will be 

sent to the DfE in March. It is hoped that this will increase attendance, reduce fixed 
term exclusions and reduce managed moves and use of alternative provisions to 
avoid permanent exclusions as well as changing the mindsets of those people 

supporting young people. 
  

It was reported that throughout the pandemic a full service was maintained. It was 
noted that a lot of Foster Carers made the choice for children in their care to remain 
at home. In these cases £200 of Pupil Premium Plus funding was redirected to 

Foster Carers to help them support the education of their foster child.  This was well 
received and weekly Virtual School contact was maintained to check in and offer 

individual support where it was safe to do so. 
  
It was suggested that a School Improvement Plan be attached to the final report 

prior to its publication.  It was also suggested that initiatives such as Social Workers 
in Schools, be included in the Board’s work programme going forward. 

  
It was questioned how the use of the £200 paid to Foster Carers was evaluated. It 
was confirmed that a random sample of Foster Carers was taken and that a lot of 

the money was reimbursement of what they had already spent on educational 
resources. It was confirmed that generally the funding had been used very wisely. 

  
More information was requested on the 20 young people receiving fixed term 
exclusions. It was confirmed that some of these young people have had more than 

one exclusion for low level behaviour.  The Virtual School has worked closely with 
those schools to advise how they can better support the young person. It was 

acknowledged that it also relates to the level of tolerance of schools and the team 
continues to challenge schools over exclusions of looked after children. 
  

It was questioned what there are less out of borough PEPs being returned. It was 
explained that this is because Local Authorities have different processes, some 

placements are in Scotland which do not have a requirement for PEPs so a report 
has to be accepted in that case.  It was acknowledged however that although this 
return figure is improving it remains a challenge. 

  
The point was made that the Regional Adoption Agency provides post adoption 

support so care needs to be taken that work is not being duplicated so more joint 
working may be required. 
  

It was suggested that it would be useful for the Board to see trends over time in 
relation to attainment, achievement and exclusions; at least for the previous three 

years, in future reports. 
  
The suggestion was made that School Admissions may be able to help in terms of 

developing an adopters network as they would hold that information upon 
registration of a child in school. 

  

Page 6



 

There was also a suggestion that consideration be given to the creation of a virtual 
school governing body. 

  
RESOLVED    -           (i)    That the Virtual School will continue to promote the  

education of all children who have or have had a social 
worker and offer a high standard of educational support 
to all children in care. 

  
                                    (ii)   That the Virtual School will continue to maintain the  

high percentage of PEP reviews, and the timely return of 
all PEPs both in and out of borough and to continue to 
promote the importance of full attendance of all 

professionals at PEP meetings. 
 

                                    (iii)  That the Virtual Schools will continue to provide  
appropriate intervention and provision for those Children 

in Care who have gaps in their education and also 
support those at risk of permanent exclusion to maintain 

their school place and to challenge where schools have 
not provided appropriate provision. 

  

                                    (iv)  That the Virtual School will ensure that Pupil Premium  
Plus and the additional Pupil Premium Plus is allocated 

and used appropriately by schools and to challenge 
school to be more accountable for their use of the 
funding. 

  
                                    (v)   That the Virtual School change the culture in schools,  

colleges and other services around responding to 
children with Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES) 
and to make them the best they can be in managing and 

supporting this vulnerable group of children through the 
delivery of high quality training. 

  
                                    (vi)  That an improvement plan be developed to sit  

alongside the Virtual School report. 

  
   (vii)  That publication of the report be delayed until further 

work is carried out and gaps in it updated. 
  

 
4 ADOPTION SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT  

 

 The Board received a report on the work of the Adoption Service for 2020/21. 
  
It was noted that Gateshead is part of five local authorities in the North East working 

with a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA), Adopt North East, to recruit, assess and 
approve adopters for the children for whom a plan of adoption has been made. 

  
Over the last 12 months the average number of days between a child entering care 

Page 7



 

and moving to an adopted family is 358 days. In comparison this figure stood at 508 
days in 2015, therefore timescales have significantly reduced. 

  
Of the 93 children who ceased to be looked after over the last year, 8 were adopted, 

this equates to 9%. 
  
It was noted that babies and children under three are most likely to be adopted. 

There are challenges around adoption of sibling groups if there are older children in 
those groups. 

  
It was reported that the number of children for whom a Placement Order was made 
has increased from 20 last year to 27 in 2020-21. The number of children matched 

with adopters this year is 20. 
  

It was also reported that the RAA has not achieved sufficiency of adopters which 
means the authority has to place them outside of the region through other agencies 
which incurs additional expense of around £35,000. 

  
The number of children who have been approved for adoption this year is 24 and in 

the last 12 months 28 children have been adopted. 
  
Fostering to Adopt arrangements allows babies to be with placed with their 

anticipated adopters. As of September 2021 there were 8 children placed in Foster 
to Adopt placements, there have been no adoptive placement breakdowns since 

2019. 
  
RESOLVED    -       That the Board considered the report and agreed a report on  

the RAA be brought back to the next meeting. 
 

5 HEALTH AND WELLBEING OF LAC REPORT  
 

 The Board received on the work undertaken by the CCG to support the health and 

wellbeing of looked after children and care leavers in Gateshead. 
  

Due to the challenge of Covid during 2020/21 there has been an impact on the 
overall timeframe for initial health assessments (IHA).  At the end of March 2021 the 
number of IHA carried out within 20 working days fell from 87.3% in the previous 

year to 65.3%. However 98% of review health assessments were completed within 
the month due, which is an improvement on 91% seen in the previous year, this 

exceeds the CCG target of 95%. 
  
All 33 young people turning 18 during the year had their leaving care health 

passports completed. 
  

The Health KPI’s for physical health show that Gateshead is achieving higher than 
the national and regional returns for completion of health assessments, 
developmental checks, immunisations and dental appointments. However, it was 

noted that the number of dental checks did drop during Covid.  From January 2021 
Foster Carers were advised to book dentist appointments. 

  

Page 8



 

KPI for emotional health and wellbeing is based on the Strength and Difficulty 
screening undertaken by the local authority. It was noted that gap is diminishing 

every year and the overall score is reducing, this is attributed to the single point of 
access. 

  
Delivery of CNTW consultation sessions continued throughout Covid, during the 
year 56 children and young people were discussed. 

  
In quarters one and two of 2021-22 the picture is improving, with 73.5% of IHA 

completed within the timeframe. 93% of review health assessments were completed 
within the month due, however there has been pressures within the 0-19 service due 
to staffing which has impacted on timeframes. 

  
The Designated Doctor and LAC Health Team continue to undertake quality audits.  

Consultation data for Quarters one and two show that 37 consultations were held for 
Gateshead children, with only a minority of those requiring onward referral to 
another service. 

  
It was reported that the LAC Health Team has remained the same whilst numbers of 

children have increased, therefore work is underway to secure additional resources. 
  
In January 2021 a number of young people from Gateshead and Newcastle were 

recruited to develop a video with Digital Voice on the views of their health needs. 
The video described some of the challenges faced and support required relating to 

their health needs. 
  
The Specialist Nurse LAC is leading on a development to enhance support to young 

people with the key aim of delaying pregnancies.  There is also enhanced LAC and 
care leavers information being shared through GP training. 

  
It was confirmed that further work is underway looking at the Strength and Difficulty 
questionnaires so that those scores are resulting in something. 

  
The Board felt that the work with Digital Voice was a very powerful tool and any 

suggestions as to where this could be shown would be helpful. 
  
It was questioned as to the uptake of Covid vaccines within the cohort. It was noted 

that statistics for this particular cohort are not known, however up to 8 December 
2021, 50% of eligible 12-15 year olds have received their vaccination.  It was also 

noted that information has been shared with Foster Carers to ensure consents are in 
place, apps have been updated and Social Workers are encouraging take up.  It was 
agreed that officers would look to update the vaccine locations on the app and better 

publicise that. It was also highlighted that PA’s need to help take young people for 
their vaccines and that the CCG has secured funding to give care leavers bus 

passes so they can access vaccine sites. 
  
RESOLVED    -       That the content of the report be noted and future reports be  

brought to the Board twice yearly. 
 

 

Page 9



 

6 EARLY PERMANENCE ANNUAL REPORT  
 

 The Board received a report on early permanence and the work over the last year. 
Placement with foster carers, with a plan of adoption allows the authority to avoid 

delay in achieving stability and reduces the number of placements. 
  
In early permanence planning foster carers are approved adopters, the speeds up 

planning and allows babies to bond with their families and avoids a move between 
foster carer and adopter. 

  
It was noted that Gateshead is performing well and in all cases courts have 
approved the plans. An Early Permanence Panel meets on a monthly basis to 

consider all decisions. If it was felt that there was any risk in approval the child would 
not be put in a foster to adopt arrangement. 

  
Since 2019 there has been 43 children with a plan of adoption, 13 of these (30%) 
were early permanence placements.  It was confirmed that there has been no 

placements with agency carers for foster to adopt arrangements. 
  

RESOLVED    -       That the Board noted the content of the report and the Early  
Permanence process. 

 
7 CHILDREN'S HOMES REPORT  

 

 A report was brought to the Board on the outcomes of the four inspection visits to 
Gateshead’s Residential Children’s Homes, which were carried out between May 
and August 2021. 

  
It was reported that all home received a ‘good’ rating, comparatively neither 

statistical nor neighbouring authorities have achieved that. 
  
It was noted that Grove House was rated ‘good’ where it had previously been 

‘outstanding’. This was on the basis of one safeguarding issue where an inspector 
had not been signed in to the daily log book.  It is anticipated that Grove House will 

be able to regain its outstanding rating next year. 
  
It was confirmed that there was exceptionally positive feedback on all four homes. 

  
It was reported that there is a five year plan in place to increase capacity and offer 

additional support.  Planning permission has been granted for a home for children 
with autism / complex needs. A specialist team has also been recruited for 
residential provisions to promote Trauma informed practice and promote placement 

stability, jointly funded through the CCG and the authority. 
  

Work is ongoing to find another therapeutic home in Gateshead. 
  
RESOLVED    -        That the Board noted the information contained in the report  

and agreed to receive further reports on a quarterly basis. 
  

  

Page 10



 

 
8 CARE EXPERIENCED SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT  

 

 The Board received a report on the work of the service to support care experienced 

young people. 
  
It was noted that staff have continued to work throughout the pandemic with the 

focus of the team being on supporting young people through lockdown.  The team 
supported 20 young people aged between 18-21 who live alone, this was through 

daily contact and doorstep visits. 
  
Positives to be take forward from the pandemic was that care leavers benefitted 

from the increased level of contact and the team will continue carrying out these 
regular contacts, through Facetime, phone calls, visits. 

  
It was reported that the number of ‘Staying Put’ placements once young people 

reach their 18
th

 birthday is 43%. This is double that of statistical neighbours and 

above the national average. 
  

Digital Voice work with care experienced young people around their experiences of 
using health services. This highlighted the struggle for some young people just to do 
basic things. In response to this there is a pilot project to supply care experienced 

young people with bus passes to enable them to access health services and 
maintain relationships with those people close to them. 

  
It was noted that more work is needed around the cost of living crisis, and in 
particular the offer for those living alone. 

  
The Board was keen to see more financial support and financial literacy for young 

people. The Board also requested something to be brought back on the health 
appointment pilot, it was noted that regional benchmarking is ongoing which could 
be fed back in. 

  
The Board also requested the work of the Young Ambassadors be reported on. It 

was confirmed that they are not yet officially in post but will be represented on this 
Board once they are. 
  

RESOLVED    -           (i)    That the Board noted the content of the report. 
  

                                    (ii)   That the Board was satisfied with progress and the  

level of support Care leavers are receiving in Gateshead. 
  

                                    (iii)   That the Board would welcome further information on  

the health appointment pilot and work of the Young 

Ambassadors. 
 

9 OFSTED FOCUSED VISIT OUTCOME  

 

 The Board received the outcome of the focused visit by Ofsted of Gateshead’s 

Children’s Services. 

Page 11



 

  
The visit was very positive across the whole service, in particular strong leadership 

and highly skilled workforce. Partnership working was also highlighted as effective. 
  

RESOLVED    -           (i)    That the Board noted the outcome of the Ofsted visit  
September 2021. 

  

   (ii)    That the Board will receive a post Ofsted action plan so it 
can monitor progress against the areas Ofsted identified 

for improvement. 
 

10 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING  

 

 The next meeting will be held on Tuesday 1 March 2022 at 2.00pm. 

 
 
 

 

Page 12



 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

1 March 2022 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT: Workforce Development and Training  
 

 
Purpose of the Report  

 

To give an overview of how Human Resources and Workforce Development promote 
and support Gateshead Council’s corporate parenting responsibilities. 

 
Background 

 

A programme of corporate parenting awareness training has been delivered for several 
years, we continue to offer this training, with 21 employees and foster carers trained 

since April 2021, the course in December was cancelled due to low numbers. 
 
In November 2021 Workforce Development supported 2 of Gateshead’s Young 

Ambassadors to deliver corporate parenting training to the members of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
Human Resources and Workforce Development have worked with services to ensure 
any Gateshead looked after child who applies for an apprenticeship post meets the 

essential criteria, are guaranteed an interview. 
 

Two of our looked after children were appointed to apprenticeships in Housing, 
Environments and Healthy Communities in 2021/22.   
 
Proposal 

 

Workforce Development will be working with Chris Hulme, Children’s Rights Officer and 
Gateshead’s Young Ambassadors to ensure the current corporate programme is fit for 
purpose and is promoted across the council to all employees to raise awareness of the 

Council’s and Council employee’s collective responsibility as corporate parents. 
 

We are now offering traineeships to looked after children and care leavers in the council 
– it is hoped this will lead to more looked after children apprentices being employed in 
the future. 

 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. Review and develop corporate training offer 

2. Continue to support looked after children to apply for apprenticeship vacancies 
3. Develop traineeship offer 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Contact: Catherine Hardman, Workforce Development 

  
Page 13

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

1 March 2022 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT: MSET ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22 
 

 
Purpose of the Report  

 

1. To update the Corporate Parenting Board on the work of the Strategic and 
Operational MSET groups held across 2021-22 

 
 
Operational MSET 

 

2. MSET (Missing, Slavery, Exploited and Trafficked) is a multi-agency partnership 

group which operates at an Operational and Strategic Level within Gateshead. The 
Operational Group sits under the Safeguarding Children’s Partnership and 
considers high and medium risk cases of children who are believed to be at risk of 

Missing, Slavery or Exploitation or are being Trafficked.  
3. The Operational Group meets monthly and for each case on the agenda a multi-

agency Safeguarding and disruption plan is formulated 
4. The Operational Group also considers intelligence from across the partnership in 

order to identify any locations or perpetrators of concern linked to Missing and 

Exploitation 
5. The group does not replace existing child protection procedures but works to 

reduce risk for those cases which require a multi-agency contextual safeguarding 
approach to reduce harm. 

6. From April 2021 to February 2022 there have been 86 cases brought to Pre MSET 

for consideration with 10 cases progressing to Operational MSET panel. Only one 
case has featured on the MSET panel on more than one occasion.  

7. Work has been undertaken within the Children’s Safeguarding Partnership in 2021 
to increase the awareness and identification of exploitation within Early Help 
Services. This has led to a reduction in cases being presented to Pre MSET as 

risks are being identified and discussed at an early stage within front door services.  
8. MSET roadshows are planned to take place April 2022 to increase front line 

practitioner’s awareness of the Operational MSET processes and to support 
recognition of exploitation within front line practice.  

 
Strategic MSET 
 

9. Strategic MSET (JSEG) is a joint group of the adults and children’s safeguarding 
partnership. The Strategic JSEG meets on a quarterly basis and has strong 
representation from both partnerships.  

10. The Police chair of the Strategic Group is a consistent chair across the Northumbria 
Police Force footprint (6 LA areas) which promotes sharing of learning and best 

practice and connectivity across the region in identifying emerging trends or 
concerns. 

11. On the SEG workplan for 2021/22 the following pieces of work have been 

undertaken: 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



 

 Review of the MSET paperwork. To ensure a consistent approach to risk 
assessment across the region and ensure criminal exploitation risk factors 

were incorporated in the framework 

 Missing Adult Protocol- Development and roll out of a Multi-agency Missing 
adult protocol.  

 Victim Hub Implementation. The Multi-agency Exploitation hub was launched 
in November 2021.  

 Regional Missing Children Protocol. Gateshead CSP have refreshed their 
Missing children’s procedures and are now leading on the development of a 

Regional Missing Children Protocol. 
 

12. In the past 12 months some of the areas which have been discussed within the 

JSEG have been: 

 Increased numbers of children coming to MSET panel with undiagnosed 

speech and language/cognitive functioning difficulties. 

 Increased numbers of cases involving teenage boys who are believed to 

being criminally exploited into drug supply/ localised County Lines activity 

 An increase in Online Exploitation (Northumbria Police report rises of 40% in 
referrals). This is felt to be attributed to children being in lockdown and 

spending increasing amounts of time online.  

 FASD input to understand (Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder) the 

vulnerability to exploitation of this cohort of children who are often 
undiagnosed until later in life.  

 Update on the work of the Violence Reduction Unit (VRU) and their 
preventative education workstreams 

 The Children’s Society Prevention Programme Presentation. 

 Regional County Lines Coordinator update 

 Transitional Safeguarding and a vulnerability not age approach to 

safeguarding exploited victims  

 Tricky Friends Animation. An online video to support those with learning 

disabilities to recognise harmful/exploitative friendships. 

 Presentation on Changing Lives Sexual Exploitation toolkit.  

 
13. Both Operational and Strategic MSET continue to have strong partnership 

commitment and effective working practices to help support the safety of children 

and young people in the Gateshead area.  
 
Recommendation 

 
14. That the Corporate Parenting Board note the information contained in the report. 

 
 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Contact:  Report completed by DCI Lynne Colledge, Northumbria Police. (MSET chair) 

  

Page 16



 

 

 

 

 

Safeguarding 
Children Unit 
(SCU) 
  
Annual  Report 
2020/2021 
 
 
 
 
The Contribution of Independent Reviewing Officers’ and Child 
Protection Chairs to Quality Assuring and Improving Services for 
Children in Gateshead 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

Children & Families  
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



   Page 1 of 30                                          Children & Families                                                             

Contents                                                      Page 
 

1. Introduction / Purpose of the service and legal context                                                 2                      
 Purpose of the report 

 National context 

 Legal and Statutory Context 

 

2. The Safeguarding Children Unit (SCU) in Gateshead                                                        4 
 

3. Staffing Profile of the Safeguarding Children Unit                                                            5                                                         
 The Independent Reviewing Officer in Gateshead 
 Current staffing structure 

 

4. Review of progress with 2019/20 Plan                                                                                6 
 

5. Core business activity of the Safeguarding Children Unit                                              13 
 Peer review                                                                                                                    
 IRO caseloads 

 Child Protection and Looked After Children numbers 
 Placement Stability 

 Care Leavers 

 Timely distribution of IRO reports 
 Foster carer reviews 

 Local Authority Designated Officer 

 
6. Challenge and quality assurance               21 

 Management oversight and dispute resolution 

 Engagement with services 

 Case studies 
 Voice of the child (engagement of children and young people and advocacy)  

 

7. Key priorities for 2021/2022 – action plan                                                                      28 
 

8. Appendices 
 Appendix 1 - IRO key performance measures 2020/21 outturns 

 
 

  

Page 18



   Page 2 of 30                                          Children & Families                                                             

 

1. Introduction / Purpose of the service and legal context                                                  

 

Purpose of the report 
 

The completion of this report is a requirement of The Adoption and Children Act 2002. The statutory 
guidance for the Independent Reviewing Officers (the IRO Handbook) specifies that the manager of 

the IRO Service ‘should be responsible to produce an annual report for the scrutiny of members of 
the corporate parenting board’. 

 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements set out in the Statutory Guidance 
for Independent Reviewing Officers (2010) and will be reported to Cabinet, the Corporate Parenting 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board. 
 
This report provides quantitative and qualitative evidence relating to the IRO Service in Gateshead 
Local Authority.  The report identifies good practice, as well as highlighting areas f o r  further 
development in relation to the IRO function.   
 
The report covers the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021.  
 
National Context 

 
Local Authorities are ‘corporate parents’ for the children and young people they are looking after, 

and effective care planning is essential for the children’s wellbeing and the best possible outcomes. 
Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) were nationally introduced to represent the interests of 

looked after children, monitor the way local authorities implement their plans, and ensure that the 
wishes and feelings of children are fully considered. 

 
Their role was strengthened through the introduction of statutory guidance in April 2011. The IRO 

has a key role in relation to the improvement of care planning for Looked After Children (LAC) and 
for challenging drift and delay in the implementation of care plans including the regular monitoring of 
the care plan in between reviews. 

 
In November 2011, the Family Justice Review reported that ‘the work of the IROs and their impact 

needs to b e  more clearly seen and understood’. If a dispute between an IRO and the local authority 
cannot be resolved locally, ultimately the IRO can refer the case to the Children and Family Court  

Advisory and Support Service (CAFCASS) 
 

 
The Legal and Statutory Context 

 
Section 118 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 introduced the statutory role of the IRO, with 

responsibility for the process of reviewing children in care cases. Under this and the subsequent 
Review of Children’s Cases (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2004, Local Authorities are required 

by regulation to: 
 

 Appoint IROs to review all looked after children’s cases 
 Monitor the authority’s function in respect of the review 

Page 19



   Page 3 of 30                                          Children & Families                                                             

 Refer a case to the Children and Families Court Advisory and Support Service (CAFCASS), if the 
failure to implement the care plan might be considered to breach the child’s human rights. (The 

Dispute Resolution Process) 
 

All children in care, including those in adoptive placements prior to an Adoption Order being made, 
are covered by these regulations. 

 
The Children and Young Persons Act 2008 and the subsequent ‘Care Planning Placement and Review 

Regulations’ developed the role of the IRO and introduced additional statutory requirements. The 
Regulations supported by specific guidance on the role of the IRO came into force on 1 April 2011. The 
new duties and responsibilities for IROs include: 
 

 Additional visits to the child outside of their reviews 

 Visits to children’s placements if the looked after review was not held there 

 Additional meetings with other key professionals, including the social worker and the children’s 
guardian  

 Track the planning and decision making more closely ensuring positive outcomes for the child.  

 Reading court bundles and potentially attending court. 
 

The Out of Authority Placement of Looked After Children Supplement to The Children Act 1989 
Volume 2: Care planning, placement and case review guidance July 2014 states that the 

Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) must be consulted before any final decision is made about 
making an out of authority placement, whether distant or not, to enable the IRO to discuss the 
proposed arrangements with the child. 
 
The child’s wishes and feelings should be taken into account, and where appropriate, the child’s 
relatives or parents should be consulted. (The Children’s Homes and Looked after Children 
Miscellaneous Amendments) (England) Regulations 2013 – Part 3:7). 
  

Page 20



   Page 4 of 30                                          Children & Families                                                             

2. The Safeguarding Children Unit (SCU) in Gateshead 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
The Safeguarding Children Unit (SCU) is committed to achieving the best outcomes for all children 
and young people in Gateshead, particularly the most vulnerable, such as those children who are 
looked after and those subject to Child Protection plans through an ethos of continuous 

improvement in safeguarding performance and service delivery.   
 

The social work model used in Gateshead is Gateshead CAN (CONTEXT, ACTION, NARRATIVE); a 
relationship based systemic practice model adopted across Children’s Services.  This is an overall 
approach which draws on all the tools, techniques, methods and models from all strengths - based, 
person-centered and system-centered theories.  It recognizes that practice and relationships have 
not always been prioritized within social work.  CAN emphasizes the positive, creative and can-do 
attitude that underpins our social work practice.  This overarching systemic approach is supporting 
social workers with a range of tools to develop the effectiveness of their practice with children and 
families.  This means that children and families are benefiting from a tailored approach to their 
individual needs. 
 

The SCU has an independent quality assurance role to ensure that all children, whatever their 

religious or cultural background, receive high quality, consistent care and safeguards in response 
to abuse or neglect. 

 
The SCU is responsible for the following functions: 

 

 The convening and Chairing of Child Protection Conferences  

 The convening and Chairing of reviews for Children In our Care 
 The convening and Chairing of reviews for children placed for adoption 

 The convening and Chairing of Secure Accommodation Reviews 

 The provision of independent oversight of all Children subject to child protection plans and 
Children in our care between reviews and conferences 

 The convening and chairing of reviews of Foster Carers 

 The Monitoring and reviewing of all Private Fostering arrangements 

 The role of the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) in respect to allegations against 

staff 
 Contributing to single and multi-agency training 

 Chairing Complex Abuse Strategy meetings. 

 Contributing to the MAPPA process 
   

The Independent Reviewing Officer must be the visible 
embodiment of our commitment to meet our legal obligations 
to this special group of children. The health and effectiveness 
of the IRO service is a direct reflection of whether we are 
meeting that commitment, or whether we are failing.  
(Mr. Justice Peter Jackson 2014) 

Page 21



   Page 5 of 30                                          Children & Families                                                             

  
In addition the SCU now chair care planning reviews for children detained under mental health 

legislation,  children with disabilities who have short break care and where there are additional 
social care needs, 18+ care experienced young adults transitioning to supported 
living/independence and children in care proceedings where Interim Supervision Orders or time 
limited Child Arrangements Orders have been made. 
 
The SCU has additional responsibilities to Gateshead’s Safeguarding Children’s Partnership in 

terms of contributing to practice case reviews, performance monitoring, audit and quality 
assurance, children’s participation and training. 

 

3. Staffing Profile of the Safeguarding Children Unit                                                               
 

The Independent Reviewing Officer in Gateshead. 
 

To fulfil their challenge role IROs must have an appropriate level of experience and authority. In 
Gateshead all IROs are qualified, registered and experienced social workers.   
 
All the IROs have extensive experience of communicating and working with children and young 
people.  All have knowledge about what contributes to good quality practice in safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of children, including an understanding of the relevant legal processes.   Many 
of our IROs have been working for Gateshead for several years and are familiar with the organisation 
and the services provided. Others have been recruited from different authorities and bring with 
them new ideas and ways of working. 
 
The range of reported skills and knowledge that IROs need in order to fulfil their duties is illustrated 
through the comments of one of the IRO managers who contributed to the NCB’s The Role of the 
Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) in England Report March 2014: 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Current Staffing Structure 
 
Responsibility for the activity and development of the Unit lies with the Service Manager, Safeguarding 

‘‘[IROs] need a really in depth knowledge obviously about the IRO responsibilities, so 
they do need to understand the Handbook. The y need to understand the care planning 

regulations, Working Together, the whole framework; legislative framework that works 
with looked after children and what children subject to safeguarding procedures are 
subject to really. The y also need those personal skills and abilities to, for instance, 
manage multiagency meetings and they need to be mindful of issues around group 
dynamics and that ability to work across agencies really and bring that work together to 
focus on the needs of the child. And they need to be able to manage their professional 
accountability and their professional authority in a way that enables effective challenge 
really because that’s one of the key things..’ (IRO Manager). 

 

Page 22



   Page 6 of 30                                          Children & Families                                                             

Children Unit, who reports directly to the Service Director The Gateshead System.  Responsibility for 
the line management of the Safeguarding Unit is removed from operational Children’s Social Care, 

which strengthens its independence and supports its role of challenge, whilst maintaining 
collaborative links with children’s services.  The structure was identified as a key strength in the Peer 

Review undertaken in 2019. 
 

Two Practice Supervisor posts support the role of the Service Manager and oversee the clinical 
supervision of the IRO’s as well as carrying half a caseload.  These 2 posts drive forward practice 

improvement and performance in the key areas of plans, planning, quality assurance and challenge.  

 
There are 10.1 FTE Independent Reviewing Officers.  Within this, one FTE post covers the LADO role 

and responsibilities and one FTE covers the reviews of foster carers for Gateshead. 
The team comprises 4 males and 8 females.  

 
The staff team have backgrounds in working with children who have suffered significant harm from 

abuse and neglect and children with attachment difficulties, as children in care, children subject to 
child protection plans and child in need plans living in the community.  This includes working with 

disabled children, care e x p e r i e n c e d  y o u n g  a d u l t s  and young people who have 
offended. IROs have developed working partnerships with the Jewish community, voluntary sector, 

internal and external partners, and ethnic groups, including the use of interpreters for both 
meetings and the translation of documents. 

 
The team is supported by: 1 senior operational support coordinator, 6 FTE senior clerks and 1 FTE clerk. 

 

4. Review of the 2019-2020 action plan  

 
Priority 1 - Ensuring effectiveness of IRO Role 
Objective Action Timescale Lead Update 

1.1 To ensure challenge 
thresholds are consistent 

and applied uniformly by 
individual IROs 

Challenge thresholds will be 
consistently discussed at regular 

team Meetings in order that a 
uniform approach is applied. 

 
Performance data is routinely 

shared with the team and 
discussed within supervision and in 
team forums. 

 
An SCU dashboard will be created 

and shared on a weekly basis. 
 

Regular meetings with Team 
managers and Service Managers 

will be held to provide feedback re 
IRO challenge and consistency. 

 
 

Fortnightly 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Service 
Manager SCU 

 
IRO staff 

 
 

Performance 
staff 
 

 
 

Achieved.  
Development 

days and team 
meetings 

regularly discuss 
challenges 

made and 
escalation. 
 

 
The SCU 

dashboard will 
be improved 

once the new 
Children’s Social 

care system is in 
place.  

Page 23



   Page 7 of 30                                          Children & Families                                                             

1.2 To ensure challenge is 
responded to by workers 
and Managers and where 
this does not occur, that 

escalation is driven 
forward by the IRO, the 

Practice Supervisors and 
the service manager 

Challenge audits will be produced 
and discussed with Children and 
Families Service Mangers on a 3 
monthly basis. 

 
Drift and delay challenge will be 

escalated to senior managers 
without delay. 

 

3 monthly. Service 
Manager SCU 
 
 

Service 
Manager SCU 

 
 

 

Achieved. 
 
 
 

 
 

 

1.3 To ensure that IRO 
challenge, advice and 

support to operational 
Social Work teams is 

appropriately recorded and 
captured 

Regular audits to take place to 
evaluate the IRO footprint on a 

child’s file. 
 

Sharing of file audit outcomes to 
take place within supervision and 
team meetings. 

Reviewed on a 
3 monthly 

basis 
 

Three monthly 
basis 
 

Practice 
Supervisors 

 
Practice 

Supervisors 

 
Achieved.   

 

1.4 Ensure themes from 

challenge, advice and 
support are reported 

regularly to staff across the 
group and partnerships to 

identify areas for 
development thereby 

driving good practice and 
improvements 

Themes will be drawn from audits 

and performance data and 
discussed with Senior Mangers on a 

monthly basis to feed into training, 
policy and procedures. 

 
Service Manager will attend the 

Learning and Improvement LSCB 
subgroup and cascade learning to 

the team via team meetings and 
the Practice Supervisors. 
 

Monthly basis Service 

Manager SCU 
and Practice 

Supervisors 

 

Achieved 

1.5 To ensure consistency of 

approach across the service 
in terms of the use of 

systemic, strengths-based 
practice when chairing 

Conferences and Looked 
After Children’s meetings.  

Development day to be held for all 

IRO’s to agree the strengths based 
methodology for conferences and 

CLA reviews 
 

The two Practice Supervisors will 
‘lead by example’ and drive forward 

innovative practice in chairing multi 
agency meetings with a systemic 
strengths based methodology. 
 
Observations of practice will be 

undertaken by peers, by Practice 
Supervisors and by the Service 

Manager. 

October 2020 

 
 

 
 

 
 

October 2020 
 
 
 
 

Service 

Manager SCU 
 

Practice 
Supervisors 

 
 

 
 
 

Achieved but 

consistency still 
needs to be 

improved and 
will be taken 

forward into the 
coming year. 

1.6 To ensure all plans 
developed by the service 

are of consistently good 

quality 

Audit of plans will identify any 
learning needs in terms of the 

formulation of robust plans and 

planning. 
 

September 
2020 

 

 
 

Service 
Manager  SCU 

Practice 

Supervisors 
IROs 

 
Not achieved – 

to be priority 

moving forward 
 

Page 24



   Page 8 of 30                                          Children & Families                                                             

Regular supervision will identify 
training needs. 
 
Designated review process to be 

relaunched which will identify any 
plans not considered robust or 

dynamic enough to ensure 
progression and good safeguarding 

outcomes. 

 
July 2020 

 
 
 
Achieved.  This 

process is well 
embedded now 

within the SCU. 

1.7 Ensure IROs provide 
rigor in their role and are 

effective in ensuring plans 
progress, avoid drift and 

delay, and meet children’s 
needs 

Regular supervision by Practice 
Supervisors will take place and 

performance information 
scrutinized to ensure effective 

challenge is taking place. 
 
File audits will ensure the IRO 
footprint is in evidence on a child’s 
file.  Regional audit tool to be 
trialed. 
 
Evaluation sheets will be used to 
collate the views of professionals, 
children and parents/carers of IRO 
performance in child protection 
and LAC meetings.  These will 
provide learning and reflective 
supervision. 

6- weekly 
 

 
 

October 2020 
 
 
September 
2020 

Practice 
Supervisors 

 
 

Service 
Manager SCU 
 
IROs 

 
Achieved. 

 
 

 
 
 
Achieved 
 
 
 
 
Not achieved 
due to the 
pandemic. 
 

1.8 To ensure that drift or 
delay in cases is 
highlighted by the IRO 
and escalated 
immediately to Senior 
Managers 

Performance information will be 
scrutinized to ensure any drift and 
delay is recorded and challenged.  
This information will be given to 
Children’s Services managers at 
monthly meetings. 
 
IRO’s are fully aware of their roles 
and responsibilities and that drift 
should be escalated to the Director 
appropriately.  

On a monthly 
basis 
 
 
 
 

Service 
Manager SCU 
 
 
IROs 

Achieved but 
consistency of 
challenge needs 
to be improved 
along with 
timely 
escalation. 

 
 
Priority 2 - Ensuring staff are suitably skilled, qualified and have the capacity 

to perform the duties of the role effectively 
Objective Action Timescale Lead Update 

2.1 Ensuring SCU staff All IROs will complete the systemic As necessary IROs  

Page 25



   Page 9 of 30                                          Children & Families                                                             

continuously improve and 
develop, and use the 
Gateshead CAN strengths 
based systemic model in 

their work 

training available.  Refresher courses 
will be available on an annual basis. 
 
A regional programme of training is 

to be arranged by the NE12 IRO 
Managers. 

 
 
 
Delayed by 

Covid-19 

 
 
Regional 
Managers 

Group 
 

Achieved 
 
 
Achieved 

2.3 Ensuring the SCUs work 

informs and is informed by 
strategic plans and relevant 

operational groups and 
processes – enabling staff 

to contribute and respond 
to the wider agenda 

The Service Manager SCU will attend 

relevant strategic planning forums. 
 

Practice Supervisors will attend 
operational groups and processes 

e.g. MSET, MAPPA on a regular basis. 

As necessary Service 

Manager 
SCU 

 
PSIROs 

Achieved 

 
 

 
Achieved 

 
 
Priority 3 - Ensuring the voice of the child is heard, listened to and acted 

upon: 
Objective Action Timescale Lead Update 

3.1 Ensure every child 

receives a visit from their 
IRO, where they want one. 

And this is recorded clearly 
within the child’s electronic 

record. 

To ensure the successful 

appointment of IROs to any vacant 
posts in order that caseloads remain 

within government guidelines. 
 

Performance data will be scrutinized 
to ensure all children receive a visit 

from their IRO should they so wish.  If 
they do not wish to receive a visit the 

reasons for this will be recorded and 
respected.  

July 2020 

 
 

 

SM SCU 

 
 

Practice 
Supervisors 

and Service 
Manager SCU 

Achieved 

 
 

 
 

 
Achieved 

although 
consistency 

across the 
service should 

be improved 
3.2 Ensure every child 

knows and understands 
their care or child 

protection plan 

All children, of appropriate age and 

understanding, will receive a copy of 
their review minutes addressed and 

written to them which will be 
explained to them by their preferred 

person. 
 

Development of a children’s care 
plan written to the child will be 

further explored with Children’s 
Services and the Children’s Rights 
Officer. 

January 2021 

 
 

 
January 2021 

IROs 

 
 

 

Service 
Manager 
SCU, Practice 
Supervisors 
and Children’s 
Rights Officer 

Achieved 

although 
consistency 

across the 
service should 

be improved. 
 

 
Achieved. 

 

 

3.3 To ensure that every child is 

 

IROs will advise children of this right 

 

As necessary 

  

IROs 

  

Achieved. 

Page 26



   Page 10 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

aware of their right to an 
advocate and to ensure that this 
process if followed. 

on each visit and will discuss with the 
social worker. 

3.4 That children’s 
participation in their 
Looked After Reviews and 
Child Protection 

Conferences is strong and 
that their wishes and 

feelings are carefully 
considered within the care 

planning process and 
reflected in their care plan. 

Performance data will be used 
effectively to cross reference where 
children most attend their meetings.  
This information will be used to 

effectively improve children’s 
participation in LAC reviews. 

 
An repeat audit of the Voice of the 

child to take place with the Children’s 
Rights Officer to ensure that 

children’s views in their consultation 
documents are reflected within the 
minutes of their meeting and 
subsequent care plan. 
 

September 
2020 
 
 

 
August 2020 

 
 

 
 

 

Service 
Manager SCU 
 
 

CRO, PSIRO, 
SM SCU 

Not achieved 
due to 
implementation 
of new social 

care IT system. 
 

 
 

 
Achieved. 

 
 

3.5 Work closely with the 

Children’s Rights Officer as 
critical friends to ensure 

the voices of our children 
are strong, loud and clear 

in all the work of the unit 

Looked After Children and/or Care 

Leavers will be included on interview 
panels for new IRO’s and any/all 

subsequent posts. 
 

 
IRO’s will work closely with the 

Children’s Rights Officers at events 
where looked after children 
participate. 

As necessary. 

 
 

 
 

Children’s 

Rights Officer 
and Service 

Manager SCU 
 

 
 

 

Achieved. 
 

 
 

 
 

Not achieved 
due to the 
pandemic 

                                                                         

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



   Page 11 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

5. Core business activity of the Safeguarding Children Unit    
 
IRO caseloads 2019/20 
 

     The IRO Handbook suggests that an IRO caseload should be between 50 to 70 Looked After Children. 
This represents good practice and ensures the delivery of the full range of functions which are set out 
in the handbook and the provision of a quality service. Taking into account sickness, there were 7.5 

FTE IROs in the unit at the end of March 2021 who have responsibility for Children In our Care and 
children subject to Child Protection plans.  

Based on the number of children in our care at the end of March 2021 (414), the average number of 
children in care per IRO stood at 55.2.  Based on the number of children subject to child protection 
plans at the end of March 2020 (274), the average number of children on child protection plans per 
IRO stood at 36.5.  This equates to 89.5 cases per IRO.  This is 12.4% higher than last year, when the 
average caseload stood at 79.6.  

 
Child Protection – numbers and review activity 
 

During the year despite the relatively stable headline figure for looked after children, the SCU has seen 
the impact of increasing child protection activity and increasing complexity of families coming into the 
child protection conference process. The chart below shows the number of children who were subject 
to a child protection plan at the end of each month for the last four years.  Whilst there has been a 
reduction in plans in 2019/2020 compared to the previous years, the figure for the end of March 2020 
was slightly increased to 274.  The March 2020 figure represents an 4.58% increase compared to the 
March 2019 figure.  However, the 12 month rolling average for April-March 2018/2019 was 297.25, 
compared to a 12 month average of 246.91 for 2019/2020. This is a 16.94% reduction overall. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

100

200

300

400

A
p

r

M
a

y

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

Se
p

O
ct

N
o

v

D
e

c

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
a

r

CP Numbers 

2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020

-15.0

10.0

35.0

60.0

85.0

110.0

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Average IRO Caseload  

2019/2020 2018/2019

Page 28



   Page 12 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

During the period, 399 children were subject to an initial child protection conference and 316 children 
became subject to a child protection plan.  These figures are higher than in 2018-19, when there were 
368 initial child protection conferences and 307 children became subject to a child protection plan. 
 
Rates per 10,000 are used as a method of benchmarking local authorities CPP and LAC numbers 
against each other, using a more comparable method than simply comparing actual numbers. Figures 
are expressed as a ratio and are calculated by dividing the local authorities’ actual numbers by its total 
0-17 child population estimate, sourced from the Office of National Statistics (ONS). 

 

The charts which follow benchmark Gateshead’s rates per 10,000 of children subject to a Child 
Protection Plan and  rates per 10,000 of children in care, against average rates for comparator groups 
of North East authorities and England as a whole. 

 

 

The chart above shows that Gateshead’s child protection rate has increased since 2018/19 but has 
decreased significantly in 2020/21.  This aligns Gateshead more with our regional statistical neighbours 
and with the national average.    

  

This data captures the quantity succinctly, but it is also important to look at the quality of child 
protection work which is undertaken within the Local Authority.  We know that generally our 
conferences and strategy meetings are well attended by partner agencies.  This year our meetings 
have moved to Teams on a virtual basis.  This has facilitated increased attendance from professionals 
including GPs.   

 

Moving forward, it is proposed that performance information relating to the quality of work provided 

44.9 42.1 68.7 64.3 67.9 78.7 73.8 66.2 69.2 
0

20

40

60

80

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Child Protection Plan numbers per 10,000 

Gateshead England North East

Page 29



   Page 13 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

will also be captured and shared with the Safeguarding Board in terms of multi agency contributions, 
attendance, advocacy and decision making. 
 
Children in Our Care  –  numbers and review activity 

 
At the end of March 2021 there were 439 children cared for by Gateshead.  
 
During 2020/21 the number of children becoming looked after has steadily increased from 384 in 
April 2019 to 414 in March 2020.  This number has remained over 400 since December 2019. 

 
Gateshead’s rate of Children in Care is higher than the regional rate of 101 per 10,000 and is 
signific antly higher than the national rate of 65 per 10,000 (SSDA903 2018-2019). 

 
 
Care Plan Reviews held within timescale 
 
99.3% of Looked after children had their reviews held within timescale. Of the 403 eligible Looked 

After children at the end of March 2019, there were 3 children that had a review out of date. 

300

325

350

375

400

A
p

r

M
a

y

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

Se
p

O
ct

N
o

v

D
e

c

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
a

r

LAC Numbers 

2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020

95.5 96.5 96.5 85.0 86.0 94.2 98.3 95.9 104.5 

-15

10

35

60

85

110

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Looked After Children numbers per 10,000 

Gateshead England North East

Page 30



   Page 14 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

 

 

From April 2020 to March 2021, 89.9 % of LAC minutes were completed within the 20-working day 
timescale by the IROs.   This represents an increase in performance compared to last year’s figure of 
44.4%   (531/1121 meetings whose target completion date was within the period).   

  

 
 

 
The Impact of Covid. 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic has had a profound impact on our lives for an extended period. The 

effects for individual children and young people, families and the wider community are likely to be 
with us for some time. Like all public services, agencies working in child safeguarding had to adapt 

0.0%

25.0%

50.0%

75.0%

100.0%

A
p

r

M
a

y

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

Se
p

O
ct

N
o

v

D
e

c

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
a

r

2019/2020 2018/2019

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160
A

p
r

M
a

y

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

Se
p

O
ct

N
o

v

D
e

c

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
a

r

LAC Review Meetings 

2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020

Page 31



   Page 15 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

quickly to continue to meet statutory requirements, maintain support for vulnerable children and 
families, and do so in ways that ensured COVID-safe practice.   

 
The SCU quickly moved from face to face conferences and reviews in person to teleconferencing 

and subsequently to video conferencing on the Teams platform.   IRO visits to children took place 
also via Teams as we explored how technology could support our work and safeguard our children.  

 
Early research indicates that with many children, parents and carers, particularly where there 

were already established relationships, the greater use of technology worked well and enhanced 

our ability to seek views and encourage participation.  For younger children and those families 
with whom we did not have already established relationships, this was harder to accomplish.  

Moving forward it is important that we use a blended approach to our work, using technology 
where appropriate and where it meets the needs of our children and families.  It is important to 

note that greater use of technology will not replace the importance of seeing children in person in 
their home environments, rather this will enhance and complement our practice.     

 
For many professionals the use of virtual conferencing has meant a greater ability to attend and 

provide valuable information.  Again, moving forward it is felt this is an efficient means to ensure 
multi-disciplinary sharing of information and liaison where appropriate with children and families.     

 
Whilst amendments were made to legal frameworks nationally in order to support Children’s 

Social Care and statutory obligations, Gateshead Children’s Social Care maintained face to face 
home visits wherever possible, ensuring children’s links, relationships and safeguarding.  

 
Evidence nationally is that the COVID-19 outbreak continues to present a situational risk for 

vulnerable children and families, with the potential to exacerbate pre-existing safeguarding 
risks and bring about new ones.  (The Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel Annual Report 
2020) 

 

Increasing domestic violence, substance use and mental health concerns were key features across 
our work with families. The lack of contact with extended family members during lockdown meant 

the loss of a key protective factor in some cases. In others, family dynamics changed where a new 
partner joined the household to avoid lockdown contact restrictions.    

Parental mental health issues and the mental health of children and young people were key 
features in our work this year.  Being away from the support of schools, peer groups and other 
trusted adults had a particular impact.  Many parents and children struggled to engage with 
mental health services as these were provided on a virtual basis.  Both groups struggled with lack 
of a space to talk through issues whilst being in their homes.   

Children’s social care-maintained family time on a face-to-face basis wherever it was safe to do so 
and liaised with other authorities regionally to ensure a consistent response.   Many of our 
Gateshead schools went over and above the call of duty, delivering lunches and resources to keep 
children in touch with teaching and pastoral staff, particularly our most vulnerable children.    

 
Placement stability 

 
During the period of April 2020 to March 2021, the total number of children in our care at the end of the 

Page 32



   Page 16 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

period was 439, of which there 32 children who had 3 or more placements (7.3%). At the same time last 
year there were 38 out of 414 Children In our Care who had 3 or more placements (9.2%). 

 
During the period of April 2020 to March 2021, 115 children had been in their placement for at least 2 

years out of the 164 children who have in our care for 2 and a half years or more (70.1%).  At the same 
time last year there were 108 out of 150 (72%).  Despite this reduction however, placement stability 

remains in line with regional (70%) and England averages (73%). 
 

Recommendations from audits completed in 2019 included how to grow the market of solo 

placement carers for those children with challenging behaviours and how we might target 
particular groups to recruit carers to care for these children.  There are plans to develop in house 

therapeutic foster carers who will be supported by psychological clinical input. 
 

As the population of children in our care has increased this has placed the fostering service under 
considerable pressure with placement capacity.  Many of the children leaving care do so by way of 

Special Guardianship orders or Child Arrangement orders to family members which does not 
release general placement capacity. Being able to match children with prospective carers as well 

as considering the potential dynamics within a placement with other looked after children and/or 
birth children becomes increasingly difficult under these circumstances and can sometimes 

destabilise otherwise stable situations.  The fostering service is acutely aware of this difficulty and 
strives hard to match children appropriately, but also offers increased support visits when 

placement fragility is evident.   Placement stability meetings are increasingly used with attendance 
across the service and from partner agencies in order to proactively provide support to carers and 

children.  Feedback from foster carers from their annual reviews consistently tells us they value 
the training and support provided by the Local Authority. 

 
Gateshead continue to strive to place our children with our own in-house foster carers rather than 
use a high number of independent foster placements 

 
There is a commitment from the council to place children within a 20-mile radius of Gateshead to 
enable them to retain links with their friends, families and community.  In order to meet this, it 
was recognised that additional provision was required within Gateshead. This has included the 
opening of Longside House- a 6 bedded children’s home and Kites Rise – a 3 bedded children’s 
home.  
 
There has also been an invest to save bid accepted for a 3-bed specialist provision for children 
with autism, a 4 bed short term/emergency assessment residential home as well as  specialist 
therapeutic support for all the children’s homes. It is envisaged that these will be operational by 
the summer of 2021. 

 
Care Experienced Young Adults 

 
At the end of March 2021, all 117 of our children (100%) who had recently left our care were in 

suitable accommodation.. 
 

Over the course of the last 12 months we have continued to see improvements in key 
performance indicators linked to Care Leavers. Almost all our care leavers are in suitable 
accommodation. A new Service Model for supported accommodation is operating with a good 

Page 33



   Page 17 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

range of accommodation options.  Staying put is actively promoted and is increasing. 
 

With our partners the Education, Employment and Training (EET) offer has been improved for Care 
leavers.  The EET panel regularly monitors all young people from the age of 15 years to identify 

those in need of additional support.  Focused interventions can then be planned, and progress 
monitored.  
 

As at the end of March 2021, 68 were (58.1%) in some form of Education, Employment or Training 
(EET) which is in line with the England average of 60.2% and higher than the North East average of 
58.1%.   This compares to last year’s data of 71 of our 115 young adults leaving our care (61.7%). 
Even with the challenge posed by covid in relation to EET opportunities, our performance has 
remained fairly stable.The trajectory in Gateshead is upwards and it is anticipated that this will 
continue. 

 
Timely distribution of IRO reports 

 

During April 2020 to March 2021, 89.9% of LAC minutes were completed within the 20 working day 
timescale by the IROs (531/1121 meetings whose target completion date was within the period).  This 
represents an increase in performance compared to last year’s figure of 47.4%  but remains an area for 
improvement.   It is anticipated that the change in social care computer system will encourage the timely 
completion of reports with a more user-friendly system. 

In addition, the SCU is exploring the use of technology to support staff in completing reports.  The 
increased use of Microsoft Teams as a platform on which to hold meetings has created possible 
opportunities to record and transcribe these meetings which can be stored digitally.  This has not yet 
been taken advantage of in Gateshead, but discussions are taking place about how this can be used 
safely and to the benefit of children and families. 
 

Foster Carer Reviews 
 

There is an identified Independent Reviewing Officer responsible for reviewing foster carers on an 
annual basis and reporting to the Fostering Panel. This IRO provides an independent and consistent 

review for foster carers and links well with the supervisory Social Workers in the Local Authority 
fostering team to ensure foster carers are supported in providing the right care for the children they 

look after.  
 
The IRO for Foster carer reviews has completed 160 annual reviews in the past year, of which all were 
within timescales (100%).   

 
There are regular meetings with the Fostering team and LAC Service Manager to feedback any themes 
and patterns from the reviews and also to highlight any learning or training opportunities.  The IRO 
challenge process has been expanded to include the foster carer review process.  This gives an 
opportunity to clearly evidence challenge, patterns and themes and for these to be collated and fed 

back to Senior Managers. 
 

Demand for placements remains very high. The fostering service has completed a restructure and 
is now fully staffed. There have been initiatives in terms of recruitment and a video created which 

current carers were involved in making.    

Page 34



   Page 18 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

 
Reports during Covid-19 and the periods of lockdown indicate our foster carers have been 

resilient, child centered and have reported high levels of satisfaction with the available support.  
They have positively adapted where required to provide home schooling.  For some children, 

particularly teenage children, the restrictions of lockdown were difficult to adhere to and this 
creates some anxiety within placements.  Many of our carers are of an older age and have their 

own vulnerabilities.  The vast majority of foster carers have adapted to doing reviews via teams 
and have started to undertake more online training with now much more availability of online 

courses. Although for some carers this transition is more challenging, and account is being taken in 

respect of the increased caring responsibilities over the past year. 
 

Some patterns and themes to be highlighted this year include: the challenges brought from recruitment 
and retention of foster carers, the numbers of children with complex and challenging behaviors who 

remain accommodated with Local Authority foster carers being a testament to their skills and 
experience, the high regard that carers have for the training opportunities and the support offered by 

the fostering service.  Foster carers have also highlighted the wait for children’s mental health services 
where children have complex needs and are not yet in long term matched placements. 

 
Local Authority Designated Officer: LADO 

 
This year the LADO reported a decrease in enquiries (97 from 123).  In addition, there were 61 

referrals and increase of 13 from the previous year which required greater intervention and 
investigation.  Enquiries constituted advice, assistance and guidance for partner agencies and did not 

result in actual referrals to the service.   
 

 
Gateshead has one identified LADO to ensure stability and consistency in the role.  There is a duty 
system operated within the team to provide cover if the LADO is out of the office, on annual leave or 
sick leave.  This ensures consistent links to partner agencies and colleagues within the Local 
Authority but also provides extra capacity and increases the knowledge and experience throughout 
the team.   
 
The LADO also holds a small caseload of child protection and Children In Care, ensuring they are 
familiar and up to date with child protection processes.  
 
The LADO also delivers training to businesses and partner agencies to enhance local knowledge of 
procedures and processes to safeguard both children and staff from allegations. 
 
A performance framework is in place which identifies and tracks all enquiries and referrals 

received and this is works well to track and collect all information.  
 
 

6. Challenge and Quality Assurance 

 
Management Oversight and Dispute Resolution Process 

 
Gateshead, as a Local Authority is accountable for all children and young people in their care and 

Page 35



   Page 19 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

needs to ensure that timely decisions based on clear assessments of their needs have been 
completed, and drift has been avoided. 

 
The Issues Resolution Procedure ensures any issues of practice and standards identified by the IROs 

are resolved. It identifies the issues and standards, which the IRO will bring to the attention of staff 
and managers. It identifies the level of management that the issues will be raised with initially and 

the different stages thereafter. The protocol acts as a check and balance of the tasks that need to be 
done.   

 

Where all other methods of resolving a problem have proved unsuccessful, the IRO should use 
his/her power to refer a case to CAFCASS so that legal proceedings can be brought – this may be for 

further family proceedings (e.g. for discharge of a Care Order for contact), a freestanding application 
under the Human Rights Act or an application for judicial review. While the types of situations which 

lead to such a referral are not defined, it is anticipated that they will involve signific ant failure to 
meet a child’s needs. 

 
Gateshead’s IROs have not had to refer any cases to CAFCASS as issues have been resolved locally 

with senior managers.  IROs also have access to independent legal advice if it is required.  This is a 
reciprocal arrangement with South Tyneside legal department. 

 
IROs have generally positive professional relationships with all the social work teams.  As a result, 

where issues have arisen, informal discussions have taken place between the IRO, social worker and 
their team manager to resolve issues on a daily basis. Examples of these include: 

 
 Quality of reports presented to meetings is addressed with Team Managers  - following the 

challenge, Care Plans were updated satisfactorily. 
 Reports not being presented in a timely manner prior to meetings by workers. 

 Reports not being shared with parents in a timely manner. 
 Where there have been disagreements between young people and their social workers, the use 

of advocates or the involvement of the Children’s Rights Officer has been actively sought. 
 

It is important for IROs to look at the quality of social work planning and the impact that this has 
on the child and the child’s lived experience.  

 
IROs also continue to highlight examples of good practice which include: 

 
 A number of examples of Social Workers from the Safeguarding teams who clearly knew the 

family they w e r e  working with and the issues they faced very well and were confident to 
challenge parents in conference appropriately, openly and honestly. 

 Social workers’ reports and updated care plans completed within time scale and of a high 
standard. 

 Ensuring the voice of the child is heard and evidenced within plans and planning. 

 Updating and sharing information with the allocated IRO in order to plan effective, timely review 
meetings. 

 Good quality direct work with children in child protection and looked after children. 
  

 

Page 36



   Page 20 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

Engagement with Services 
 

This year we have moved all our meetings onto Teams to ensure continued effective multi agency 
working.  This has been positive and will be a strategy to take forward in line with the needs of the 

children and families.  It is thought likely that future conferences and reviews will be a hybrid of 
some professional attendance virtually and some in person support for parents, children and 

carers.  It is important to note that the arrangement of any meeting must meet the anticipated 
needs of the parents and children first rather than accommodating professionals.   

 

A key part of the role for IROs is developing trusting relationships with the children for whom they are 
reviewing officers. The SCU works hard to maintain the stability of those relationships for our children 

and young people t o  ensure that IROs can be genuine advocates for them, ensuring that the decisions 
made during the care planning process are made in children’s best interests. It is expected and now 

embedded in all processes that IRO’s will visit children before meetings.  During Covid lockdowns the 
service has met with children via Teams, made telephone calls or visited in open air spaces to ensure the 

safety of all concerned whilst retaining our responsibilities in this respect.  
 

Voice of the child (Engagement of children and young people including advocacy) 
 

The 403 open eligible looked after children at the end of March 2020 accounted for 979 LAC reviews 
undertaken during the year. A t 151 reviews, the child was under 4 years old.  At 223 reviews, the 

child attended and was able to express their views directly.  This is an increase from the 2018/2019 
figure of 174/872 children attending and expressing their views directly.  

 
For the remaining children and young people who were not present at their LAC reviews, they gave 

their views indirectly, either through consultation forms or an ‘advocate’. This advocate can be 
informal ie their foster carer or social worker, or a formal commissioned advocate from NYAS.   
 
In most cases IROs have offered children and young people a discussion in private prior to their 
review, subject to age and understanding. A formal pre-meeting has not taken place in some cases, 
for example, where the young person chooses not to meet his/her IRO prior to the review because 
his/her placement remains stable, there have been no significant changes planned for the 
foreseeable future and the IRO and child/young person have already established a relationship or a 
young person chooses not to talk to his/her IRO.  This is in addition to a visit by the IRO in between 
reviews.  
 
Efforts are always made to engage children in a meaningful way so that their voice is heard, 
evidenced and contributes to their care plan and any decisions made.  Children under 4 are not 
expected to participate fully in the same way however their behavior is always noted as an 
indication of their emotional well-being.  
 

An audit of children’s consultation documents was undertaken with the Children’s Rights Officer to 
look at the areas identified by the child for discussion in his/her review and establish if, how and 

where this was recorded within the Chair’s report.  In most cases the views of the child were 
clearly identified and amplified within the Chair’s report however a lack of consistency was seen in 

terms of where and how the child’s views were recorded.  This audit is in the process of being 
repeated, this time with a greater cohort of identified children and also to establish not only if the 
child’s voice is heard, but how they are then influencing the care plan.  This is an important area of 

Page 37



   Page 21 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

work and will drive forward best practice with the IROs. 
 

The IROs write their reports to the most important person at the meeting – the child.  In many 
cases this has inspired the social workers to also write the care plan to the child.  This encourages 

a simpler use of language and lends the document to being shared eas ily and more readily with 
the child.   

 
The IROs write their visits on the child’s record to the child.  When reading these, the impact of the 

child’s lived experience is truly evident, and the child comes alive to the reader. If this child comes 

back to read their files and make sense of their journey in care, it is hoped this will provide life 
story work and provide a greater understanding for them of the relationships they had with the 

carers, IROs and social workers in their life and the context for decision making.   
 

Special efforts are required to accommodate the individual needs of Disabled children and young 
people in their LAC reviews. Parents, residential care staff, the involvement worker and Children with 

Disability Team members all work hard to ensure that the views of Disabled children and young 
people are known and reflected in the reviews. 

 
The reviews are intended to be participative, providing an opportunity particularly for the child/young 

person to contribute, according to age and understanding. They are also intended for the 
participation of parents, carers and others involved in implementing the child/young person’s care 

plan and in planning for the future. 
 

Advocacy 
 

Between 1st April 2019 and 18th April 2020 63 children and young people have been supported to 
share their views and be heard in a variety of formats  by the Children’s Rights Officer or a formal 
advocate.  In the same time period, there were also 129 Mind Of My Own statements. 

 
In Gateshead children and young people can opt to receive support from an advocate from an 
internal service or commissioned provider.   

 
Children and young people are informed of the advocacy offer by social workers or IRO’s and 
information is included in publicity which is shared with children and young people. Advocacy is 
also included in our complaint’s leaflets for children and young people. The Children’s Rights 
Officer (CRO) attends team meetings and service briefings to remind staff of the offer available to 
children and young people.  
 
Information about advocacy can be found on the council’s website, by searching for “children’s 
advocacy”. This information includes a short animation, created by children and young people.   

 

Advocacy is a fixed agenda item in both LAC reviews and CP conferences, with IRO’s asking if 
referrals have been considered, if not already ongoing.  

 

Page 38



   Page 22 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
NYAS are the independent provider of advocacy services in Gateshead. They are commissioned 
regionally, under the NE10 agreement. The current contract started in November 2018, however 
they also previously held the contract.  

 
 

Page 39



   Page 23 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

 
Children’s Rights and Engagement Team 

 
There are plans for the Children’s Rights and Engagement Team; Children’s Rights Officer (CRO) 

and Engagement Officer (EO) to be line managed by the Service Manager for the SCU.  It is 
anticipated that this move will happen in May 2021.  This will ensure the independence of this role 

from Children’s Services and align participation and engagement firmly with the SCU  reinforcing 
the voice of the child within our service.  

 

Our CRO has worked in Gateshead in this role for 18 years and has good relationships with 
children and young people.   

 
The CRO and EO can offer quick interventions in a timely manner, offering a responsive service, 

creating change quickly for young people.  
 

Participation and engagement with children, young people, parents and carers is a key component 
of ensuring the quality and effectiveness of our work.  How do we know if we are doing a good 

job?  We need to ask the recipients of our services what works well and what we can do to 
improve. 

 
The CRO facilitates the Gateshead Children in Care group – One Voice.  There are strong links 

between the IROs and One Voice which will be further strengthened by the integration of the CRO 
and EO alongside the SCU, which provides the opportunity for children’s views to inform the 

development of services for children in our care.  One Voice representatives have been key in 
interview selection offering a children’s perspective.  The Covid pandemic this year meant that the 

group were not able to meet in person and it has been a challenge to recruit new members under 
these circumstances.   

 
Families Rights and Advocacy Gateshead (FRAG) are a group of parents and family members who 
have experience of Children’s services in Gateshead.  They are keen to see what peer support they 
can offer to other families and want to work with the authority to improve services.  However 
Covid had an unfortunate impact on the attendance of the members for FRAG as meetings moved 
to being held virtually on Teams and lockdown affected school attendance.  A relaunch of the 
group is needed once Covid restrictions allow for face to face meetings to resume and the group 
have childcare supports back in place.  

 
 

7. Key priorities for 2021/2022 – action plan   
 

Priority 1 - Ensuring effectiveness of IRO Role 
Objective Action Timescale Lead Update 

1.1 To ensure challenge 
thresholds are 
consistent and applied 

uniformly by individual 
IROs 

Challenge thresholds will be 
consistently discussed at regular 
team Meetings in order that a 

uniform approach is applied. 
 

Fortnightly 
 
 

 
 

Service 
Manager SCU 
 

IRO staff 
 

  

Page 40



   Page 24 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

Performance data is routinely shared 
with the team and discussed within 
supervision and in team forums. 
 

An SCU dashboard will be created 
and shared on a weekly basis. 

 
Regular meetings with Team 

managers and Service Managers will 
be held to provide feedback re IRO 
challenge and consistency. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
Performance 
staff 
 

 
 

1.2 To ensure challenge 
is responded to by 
workers and Managers 
and where this does 
not occur, that 
escalation is driven 
forward by the IRO, the 
Practice Supervisors 
and the service 
manager 

Challenge audits will be produced 
and discussed with Children and 
Families Service Mangers on a 3 
monthly basis. 
 
Drift and delay challenge will be 
escalated to senior managers without 
delay. 
 

3 monthly. Service 
Manager SCU 
 
 
Service 
Manager SCU 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.3 To ensure that IRO 
challenge, advice and 

support to operational 
Social Work teams is 
appropriately recorded 
and captured 

Regular audits to take place to 
evaluate the IRO footprint on a child’s 

file. 
 
Sharing of file audit outcomes to take 
place within supervision and team 
meetings. 

Reviewed on a 
3 monthly 

basis 
 
Three monthly 
basis 
 

Practice 
Supervisors 

 
Practice 
Supervisors 

 
 

 

1.4 Ensure themes from 

challenge, advice and 
support are reported 

regularly to staff across 
the group and 

partnerships to identify 
areas for development 
thereby driving good 
practice and 
improvements 

Themes will be drawn from audits 

and performance data and discussed 
with Senior Mangers on a monthly 

basis to feed into training, policy and 
procedures. 

 
Service Manager will attend the 
Learning and Improvement LSCB 
subgroup and cascade learning to the 
team via team meetings and the 

Practice Supervisors. 
 

Monthly basis Service 

Manager SCU 
and Practice 

Supervisors 

 

 

Page 41



   Page 25 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

1.5 To ensure 
consistency of approach 
across the service in 
terms of the use of 

systemic, strengths-
based practice when 

chairing Conferences and 
Looked After Children’s 

meetings.  

Group supervision to consider 
systemic strengths based 
approaches. 
 

The two Practice Supervisors will ‘lead 
by example’ and drive forward 

innovative practice in chairing multi 
agency meetings with a systemic 

strengths based methodology. 
 
Observations of practice will be 
undertaken by peers, by Practice 
Supervisors and by the Service 
Manager. 

January 2022 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Service 
Manager SCU 
 
Practice 

Supervisors 
 

 
 

 
 

 

1.6 To ensure all plans 
developed by the 
service are of 
consistently good 
quality 

 
Joint training by PSIRO and TM to be 
rolled out to social workers and IROs 
to consider what makes a ‘good plan’ 
to include use of language, strengths 
based approaches and co-
production. 
 
Work stream with service leads to 
consider the suitability of the current 
templates. Audits.  

 
 
January 2022 
 
 
 
 
J 

Service 
Manager  SCU 
Practice 
Supervisors 
IROs 

 
 
 
 

1.8 To ensure that drift 
or delay in cases is 
consistently highlighted 
by the IRO and 
escalated immediately 
to Senior Managers 

Performance information will be 
scrutinized to ensure any drift and 
delay is recorded and challenged.  
This information will be given to 
Children’s Services managers at 
monthly meetings. 
 
IRO’s are fully aware of their roles and 
responsibilities and that drift should 
be escalated to the Director 
appropriately.  

On a monthly 
basis 
 
 
 
 

Service 
Manager SCU 
 
 
IROs 

 

 
 
Priority 2 - Ensuring staff are suitably skilled, qualified and have the capacity 

to perform the duties of the role effectively 
Objective Action Timescale Lead Update 

2.1 Ensuring SCU staff 

continuously improve and 
develop, and use the 

All IROs will complete the systemic 

training available.  Refresher courses 
will be available on an annual basis. 

As necessary 

 
 

IROs 

 
 

 

Page 42



   Page 26 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

Gateshead CAN strengths 
based systemic model in 
their work 

 
A regional programme in the form of 
a virtual conference  is to be arranged 
by the NE12 IRO Managers. 

 
Evaluation sheets will be used to 

collate the views of professionals, 
children and parents/carers of IRO 

performance in child protection and 
LAC meetings.  These will provide 
learning and reflective supervision. 
 

 
March 2022 
 
 

 
 

January 2022 

 
Regional 
Managers 
Group 

 

2.3 Ensuring the SCUs work 

informs and is informed by 
strategic plans and relevant 
operational groups and 
processes – enabling staff 
to contribute and respond 
to the wider agenda 

The Service Manager SCU will attend 

relevant strategic planning forums. 
 
Practice Supervisors will attend 
operational groups and processes e.g. 
MSET, MAPPA on a regular basis. 

As necessary Service 

Manager 
SCU 
 
PSIROs 

 

 

 
Priority 3 - Ensuring the voice of the child is heard, listened to and acted 

upon: 
Objective Action Timescale Lead Update 

3.1 Ensure every child 

receives a visit from their 
IRO, where they want one. 

And this is recorded clearly 
within the child’s electronic 

record. 

To ensure the successful appointment 

of IROs to any vacant posts in order that 
caseloads remain within government 

guidelines. 
 

Performance data will be scrutinized to 
ensure all children receive a visit from 
their IRO should they so wish.  If they do 
not wish to receive a visit the reasons 
for this will be recorded and respected.  

October 2022 

 
 

 

SM SCU 

 
 

Practice 
Supervisors 

and Service 
Manager SCU 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

3.2 Ensure every child knows 

and understands their care 
or child protection plan 

All children, of appropriate age and 

understanding, will receive a copy of 
their review minutes addressed and 

written to them which will be explained 
to them by their preferred person. 

 
The writing of all reports  - Chair’s 
reports, CIN assessments, care plans etc 

- to the child will be further explored 
and  expanded within Children’s 

January 2022 

 
 

 
January 2022 

IROs 

 
 

 

Service 
Manager SCU, 
Practice 
Supervisors 

and Children’s 
Rights Officer 

 

Page 43



   Page 27 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

Services . 

 
3.3 To ensure that every child is 
aware of their right to an advocate 
and to ensure that this process if 
followed. 

 
IROs will advise children of this right on 
each visit and will discuss with the social 
worker. 

 
As necessary 

  
IROs 

  
 

3.4 That children’s 
participation in their Looked 
After Reviews and Child 

Protection Conferences is 
strong and that their wishes 

and feelings are carefully 
considered within the care 

planning process and 
reflected in their care plan. 

Performance data will be used 
effectively to produce an IRO 
dashboard and to cross reference 

where children most attend their 
meetings.  This information will be used 

to effectively improve children’s 
participation in LAC reviews. 

 
An audit of the Voice of the child within 

Child Protection processes will be 
completed with the Children’s Rights 

Officer to ensure that children’s views 
are reflected within the minutes of their 

meeting and subsequent child 
protection plan. 

 
Liaise with Fostering Service to co-

produce a Trans Racial Fostering policy 
and associated training to ensure we 

support children of black and ethnic 
minority groups to have positive 
identifies and life opportunities. 
 
Ensure our policies and procedures for 
trafficked children are robust and 
ensure appropriate safeguarding.  Co-
producing and disseminating training 
across children and families social work 
teams.   
 

September 
2020 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

October 2022 
 

 
 

 
 

Service 
Manager SCU 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

CRO, PSIRO, 
SM SCU 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Quality assure our work by engaging 
with children, young people, 
parents and carers, ensuring we 
listen to constructive feedback to 

improve our service  

Re launch the Families Rights and 
Advocacy Group encouraging new 
membership, terms of reference and 
direction.  Holding regular meetings 

and providing advice support and 
guidance to the group. 

 
Liaise with One Voice and strengthen 

the links with our children in care 
council by providing support to the 

CRO. 

October 2021 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Children’s 
Rights Officer 
and Service 
Manager SCU 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 44



   Page 28 of 30                                           Children & Families                                                            

 

 
Adopt the national research into the 
use of language to describe our 
children, their families and experiences.  

(TACT Language that Cares) 
 

CRO and Participation Officer to move 
into the service and work alongside the 

IRO service.  

 
 
October 2021 
 

 
 

 
May 2021 

 
 
 
 

                                                                      

Page 45



 

 

Appendix 1 - GATESHEAD IRO KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

2
0

 

Page 46



 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

1 March 2022 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT: LEARNING FROM REVIEWS  
 

 
Purpose of the Report  

To share learning from reviews with Corporate Parenting Board 

 
Background 

There have been a number of reviews carried out, locally, regionally and nationally. This 
report is intended to share learning from some of those reviews, and resources 
developed in response.   

 
Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review – Baby Alfie 

A Rapid Review Meeting was held by Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership on 
the 22nd January 2021. This was in response to an incident where a young baby, who 
will be referred to in this report as Alfie, suffered significant injuries whilst in the care of 

his Mother and her partner. The Rapid Review Meeting identified the need to undertake 
a learning review. The National Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel subsequently 

agreed there was value in undertaking a learning review and requested that it was 
published as a Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review.  
 

An independent reviewer, Chris Ring, was identified in September 2021 to undertake the 
review. Chris Ring is a registered Social Worker with 19 years experience working in a 

variety of statutory social work settings, both as a practitioner and manager. He is 
currently the Children and Families Principal Social Worker in a neighbouring Local 
Authority.  
 

A multi-agency learning review workshop was held in October 2021. A draft review 

report was shared with representatives from partner agencies on the 6th January 2022 
and the final report was presented and agreed by the Gateshead Safeguarding Children 
Partnership on the 10th February 2022. This will now be shared with the National Child 

Safeguarding Practice Review (CSPR) Panel and What Works Centre for Children’s 
Social Care (WWCSC) and published on our website (in line with statutory guidance).  

 
Learning from the LSCPR will be shared across the partnership; suggest a more 
detailed summary be presented at the next CPB.  
 
Learning review – Leaving Care Support for Parents  

The aim of the learning review was to look at the quality of leaving care support offered 
to parents, and the risk assessment processes undertaken around the birth of second 
child with a different parent. A summary of key findings and recommendations is 

included with this report (appendix 1a) along with a 7-minute briefing (appendix 1b). 
Action plan is being overseen by the Quality, Learning and Practice Group.   

 
7-minute briefing re LAC and Care Leavers (appendix 2) – developed by CCG in 
response to learning from case review in Newcastle.  

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 5

https://www.workingtogetheronline.co.uk/chapters/chapter_three.html#reporting
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/12203/learning-review-care-leaver-support-for-parents-summary.pdf
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/12201/7-minute-briefing-child-m.pdf
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/12202/7-minute-briefing-lac-care-leavers.pdf


 

Information Sharing 

Case reviews consistently highlight the need to clarify when and how information can 

and should be shared; missed opportunities to record, understand the significance of 
and share information in a timely manner can have serious consequences for the safety 
and welfare of children and adults at risk.  

 
It is essential that collaborative working and good information sharing is established 

throughout agencies, at all levels, which is then embedded through effective 
safeguarding practice.  
 

The new Information Sharing Protocol (ISP) (appendix 3a) and flowchart (appendix 3b) 
has been developed to address information sharing both at strategic level and 

operational level within the arenas of Safeguarding Children and Adult Safeguarding. It 
is intended that agencies with the potential to be involved in safeguarding investigations 
will sign up to the use of this protocol. This protocol is agreed with the purpose of 

ensuring compliance with the Data Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data 
Protection Regulations (UK GDPR) and the Human Rights Act 1998. 

 
The ISP has been formally approved by GSCP and SAB, with agreement from all 
agencies, and is now uploaded to the resource library within the procedure manual.  

 
Professional Curiosity 

Professional curiosity is a golden thread through all safeguarding learning reviews and 

audits and is an essential part of safeguarding. 
Nurturing professional curiosity is a fundamental aspect of working together to keep 

children, young people and adults safe.  
 
This 7-minute briefing (appendix 4) aims to raise awareness of the need for professional 

curiosity and advises where and how to access help and support. 
 
Missing protocol  

We recently updated our procedures regarding children missing from home and care 
(appendix 5); including responding to missing occurrences using ‘levels of intervention’ 

model.  
 

Discussions have taken place regionally to consider our updated local protocol being 
adopted as the regional protocol and if this could then replace the current procedure 
(which is due a refresh and covers the same information). This is being considered by 

missing leads in the other areas but we hope to have this agreed by the end of 
February.  

 
Multi-agency training re missing is planned for 1st April – this training will also cover 
MSET and the exploitation hub. One of our Young Ambassadors (who has lived 

experience) has asked to be involved with this training session.  
 

 
Recommendations 

The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to note the findings from the reviews and 

consider any actions.  
 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Contact: Saira Park, LSCB Business Manager, Ext: 8010 

  
Page 48

https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/12198/ispv50222-approved.pdf
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/12199/is-flowchart-and-7-rules.pdf
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/12200/7min-professional-curiosity.pdf
https://www.proceduresonline.com/nesubregion/files/gateshead_misper.pdf


 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

1 March 2022 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT:  OFSTED REPORT: ‘Ready or not’ – care leavers’ views of 

preparing to leave care  

 

 
Purpose of the Report  

To share this research report, which includes recommendations for the Corporate 
Parenting Board.  

 
Background 

For many children in care, approaching adulthood and leaving the care system is a time 

of extra challenges, anxiety and fear. This report looks at the planning and preparation 
that happens before leaving care. 

 
Ofsted carried out an online survey of children in care (aged 16 to 17) and care leavers 
(no age limit) to explore whether the help they got when getting ready to leave care was 

what they needed, and how involved they were in the decisions made about their future. 
 

Findings reflect what care leavers told Ofsted about their experiences through the 
survey and interviews. As people do not always recognise or accurately remember the 
help they get, the research can only report on care leavers’ perceptions of the 

preparation they received.  
 

Findings are not necessarily representative of all care leavers’ experiences. Some of the 
main findings are summarised in the section below, and expanded on in the report. 
 
Summary of key findings  

 

 More than a third of care leavers felt that they left care too early. This was often 
because the move out of care happened abruptly and they were not ready for all the 
sudden changes. Of those who did feel that they left care at the right time, not all felt 

they had the required skills to live more independently. Many care leavers told us 
that they were not taught essential skills, such as how to shop, cook or manage 

money. 
 

 Many care leavers felt ‘alone’ or ‘isolated’ when they left care and did not know 

where to get help with their mental health or emotional well-being. Many care 
leavers had no one they could talk to about how they were feeling or who would look 

out for them. A third of care leavers told us they did not know where to get help and 
support. For many, no plans had been made to support their mental health or 

emotional well-being when they left care. 
 

 Although statutory guidance requires that young people should be introduced to their 

personal adviser (PA) from age 16, over a quarter of care leavers did not meet their 
PA until they were 18 or older. Care leavers saw PAs as helpful in preparing to leave 

care, but a fifth felt they met them too late. Two fifths of the children still in care told 

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ready-or-not-care-leavers-views-of-preparing-to-leave-care/ready-or-not-care-leavers-views-of-preparing-to-leave-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ready-or-not-care-leavers-views-of-preparing-to-leave-care/ready-or-not-care-leavers-views-of-preparing-to-leave-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ready-or-not-care-leavers-views-of-preparing-to-leave-care/ready-or-not-care-leavers-views-of-preparing-to-leave-care


 

us that they did not yet have a PA, meaning that some about to leave care still did 
not know who would be helping them. 

 

 Some care leavers could not trust or rely on the professionals helping them to 

prepare for leaving care. Care leavers needed someone they could rely on for help 
when they felt scared or worried, but sometimes they felt that professionals were 

‘rude’ or ‘uninterested’, or showed a lack of respect, for example by cancelling 
meetings, turning up late or ignoring their feelings. 

 

 Care leavers were not involved enough in plans about their future. Around a quarter 

of care leavers reported they were not at all involved in developing these plans. 
Some felt that, even when they expressed their wishes, they were not listened to, or 

that they did not fully understand the options. Some felt that plans did not match 
their aspirations. For many, this had a long-term impact on their education or career 
path, as well as their emotional well-being. 

 

 Many care leavers had no control over where they lived when they left care, and 
many felt unsafe. Only around a third of care leavers had a say in the location they’d 

like to live in and even fewer (a fifth) in the type of accommodation. One in 10 care 
leavers never felt safe when they first left care. Many care leavers were worried 
about the area or people where they lived. Sometimes the area was completely 

unfamiliar to them or was seen as a crime and exploitation hot spot. Many care 
leavers also felt unsafe living on their own. 

 

 Many care leavers felt unprepared to manage money. Some were not aware of what 
bills they needed to pay, or how to budget. In some cases, this led to them getting 
into debt, losing tenancies, or not being able to afford food or travel. Some care 

leavers were still in debt years later. When they were asked what made them feel 
unsafe when they first left care, being worried about money was the most common 

reason reported. A few care leavers reported getting into crime when they left care 
in order to get money, or because they were not able to manage their finances. 

 

 Some care leavers said they did not find out about their rights until they were 

already in serious difficulties. In some cases, care leavers were already in debt or 
homeless before they were told about the help they could access. Only around half 

remembered being told about the support and services available in the local care 
leaver offer. A similar proportion reported being told how to complain and even fewer 
were told how to get advocacy support. Care leavers (or their carers) who had 

engaged advocacy services had found this help to be vital. 
 

Recommendations for corporate parents 

Many of the findings highlighted in this research are not new and are related to existing 
statutory guidance. However, the fact that many children in care and care leavers, 

including those who left many years ago, continue to share similar experiences and 
feelings about the preparation they got for leaving care shows that there is more that 

corporate parents could do to satisfy themselves that they are meeting their duties under 
the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000. 
 

The recommendations specifically for corporate parents are included as appendix 1 and 
are set out to prompt discussion and identify any actions for Gateshead.  

 
Proposal 

1. It is proposed that Corporate Parenting Board self-assess against the 

recommendations and include any identified actions within the CPB action plan.   

Page 50



 

 
 
Recommendations 

2. The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to note the contents of the report and 
identify any actions.  

 
 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Contact: Saira Park, LSCB Business Manager, Ext: 8010 

  
  

Page 51



 

Appendix 1 
 

Recommendation 
What do we do in 
Gateshead? 

What do we need to do? 

1 Allocate children in care to a PA as close to age 16 as possible, in line with statutory 

guidance. 

  

2 Involve children in care and care leavers in developing their plans for after care. Plans 
should take account of young people’s wishes and concerns, when possible, including 

those related to feeling safe, where young people want to live, and what they want to do 
with their future. 

  

3 Plans should pay sufficient attention to social, emotional and mental health needs. They 

should be developed early but at the young person’s pace and in an incremental way. 

  

4 Young people should be prepared for:   

   managing finances and budgeting, including understanding what bills they have to 
pay, what benefits they are entitled to, how to budget, and how the money they get 

will change at different ages 

  

   handling safety and risk, including about the area and accommodation they live in, 
what risks they may face, ensuring they know who they can call for help, and what 

they can do in an emergency 

  

   accessing health services, including helping them to register with GPs, dentists 
and opticians, and ensuring that they know what services are available if they 

move area 

  

   supporting mental health and emotional well-being, including knowing who they 
can call if they need help or someone to talk to (any known mental health problems 

should be incorporated into the plan so that these are considered across all 
aspects of planning). If care leavers have long-term physical or mental health 
conditions, corporate parents should help them to navigate the transition to adults’ 

services. 

  

5 Publish and publicise the local authority’s care leaver offer in accessible ways, in line with 

statutory guidance. Ensure that care leavers know what they are legally entitled to and 
are helped to access support after they leave care. Review the care leaver offer in 

partnership with care leavers. 

  

6 Ensure that all children in care and care leavers know how to make a complaint and have 

access to advocacy services. 

  

 

P
age 52



 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

2 March 2022 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT: Gateshead Youth Justice Service  
 

 
REPORT OF:                     Emma Blackwell, Team Manager, Youth Justice and 

Specialist Support Team. 

 

 
Purpose of the Report  

To provide an update on the Youth Justice Service key priorities for 2021/2023 and 
performance against First Time Entrants (FTE), Re-offending and Custody indicators.  

 

 
Background 

 
1.The principle aim of the youth justice system established by Section 37 of the Crime 
and Disorder Act (1998) is to prevent offending by children and young people.  The 

Gateshead Youth Justice Service is an integral part of the Children’s Social Care and 
Early Help Directorate within Gateshead Council and is accountable to the Gateshead 

Youth Justice Board.  
 

2.The Youth Justice Board must make sure suitable governance arrangements are in 

place for the Youth Justice Service. The Gateshead YJB:  

 is chaired by the Director for Children, 

 is responsible for ensuring the delivery of the local Youth Justice Plan, it 
agrees the draft Youth Justice Plan and receives progress updates as to 
implementation 

 monitors quarterly updates from the YJS Head of Service on performance 
against key targets and initiative 

 
3.The Gateshead YJB must be chaired by a Chief Officer and: 

 comprise of all statutory partners and other agencies that can make a 

significant contribution to the youth crime prevention agenda 
 ensure that Board members are at chief officer level or representatives with 

sufficient seniority to be able to commit resources and take necessary 
decisions 

 ensure that Board members have corporate ownership of the YJS and the 

youth crime prevention agenda 
 

4.The statutory partners are: 

 the Local Authority  
 Police  

 Probation Service  
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



 

 Health (Health is defined as a "Clinical Commissioning Group" or "Local 
Health Board" by the Crime and Disorder Act 1988) 

 
Gateshead Youth Justice Service consulted with partners and agreed 9 key 
priorities as defined in the Strategic Plan for 2021 - 2023.   

 
Priority 1  

Ensure our young people are children first and offenders second 

5. The Voice of the Child and Family needs to be at the center of the work that is carried 
out with our young people.  Further development of this will include greater liaison with 

young people when making changes to the YJS.  We will do this by supporting young 
people to take part in exit interviews and encouraging them to attend the Gateshead 

YJS or make a film/write an account of their experiences.  We will also use the work 
produced by young people in public spaces.  Life story work is being developed across 
Gateshead Children Services, case managers and advocates will have the opportunity 

to attend this training and apply the principles to their intervention with our young people.   
 
Progress  

6. Young people continue to be at the center of all the work we do.  We have developed 
a young person consultant role to ensure that the views and opinions of young people 

are at the heart of service delivery and improvement.  Recently a young person and his 
family attended the Gateshead Youth Justice Board to talk about their experience of the 
Criminal Justice System.  Young people have been involved in producing work as part of 

reparation and awareness raising of issues linked to offending.   
 

Priority 2 
Ensure Looked After Children are not overrepresented in the Criminal Justice 
Service 

7. Decriminalisation of LAC is a key priority and an area where there has been 
significant development.  However, there is more work to be done and by linking up with 

Children’s Homes, police, Independent Return workers and Social Work colleagues we 
can further push this agenda to avoid these children coming into the Criminal Justice 
system.  There are plans in place to develop a psychology offer which will help us to 

develop the Enhanced Case management model.   
 
Progress 

8. Decriminalisation of Looked after Children meetings have taken place bimonthly and 
are chaired by the Youth Justice Service Manager.  This group is made up from 

managers of Local Authority Children’s Homes, Police, EDT, a manager from the 
Looked After Team and the Youth Justice Service. The agenda is focused on the young 

people within the local authority care homes and their current individual needs.  As a 
direct result of the information shared in this group a perpetrator of sexual offences was 
remanded and another young person was deterred from meeting an adult male who had 

groomed her to meet up with him.  
 

9. The information shared between partners has changed the way in which young 
people are dealt with when they go missing and joint strategies between the police and 
home have been put in place to support the young person’s safe return.   

 
10. In addition, neighborhood police relations have been strengthened and information 

has been entered onto the police intelligence system to better understand individual 
need leading to better outcomes.   
 

Page 54



 

11. The Children homes continue to support their young people and only contact police 
as a last option. Divert from charge and outcome 22 are also having a positive impact on 

the decriminalisation of Looked After Children.  
 
12. Youth Justice Staff have attended the Children’s homes to present information on 

the service and how we can help and support staff and young people alike.   
 

13. Relationships between all members of the group have improved and information 
sharing is easier as a result. 

 

Priority 3 
14. Identify and intervene early with young people to address behaviour that could 

lead a young person into the Criminal Justice System.   

Prevention needs to be everyone’s agenda.  Young people at risk of offending need to 
be able to access services to support their needs at the earliest opportunity.  There 

needs to be co-ordination of what is available to young people in Gateshead. 
 
Progress 

15. The Youth Justice Service and Targeted Family Support work closely together to 
provide support for young people and their families at risk of offending and re-offending.  

Both services recently took part in a visit from the Supporting Families & Youth Justice 
Project, led by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities.  This visit 
was to gain an understanding how we work together to deliver a whole family approach. 

And a report of their findings will be published in April 2022.   
 

16. The YJS is leading on the development of a partnership handbook exploring existing 
resources to support prevention, targeted prevention, and diversion across Gateshead. 
This piece of work involves collaboration with Targeted Family Support, Community 

Safety, Police, Violence Reduction Unit, Fire Service, Youth Justice and Voluntary 
Sector services.  

 
 
Not criminalising young people - Divert from Charge  

17. Divert from Charge was launched in Gateshead in May 2021, it is a new referral 
process whereby young people are no longer charged by police unless in extreme 

cases, such as offences that could lead to a remand and instead, cases are referred 
through to a panel process before a final decision is reached. As a result of the Divert 
from Charge arrangement, young people are not labelled as offenders, this helps to 

prevent young people from forming deviant or delinquent identities that may impact on 
their development. The process avoids unnecessary disproportionality in the criminal 

justice system and enables tailored diversionary interventions which are therapeutic, 
targeted, and appropriate whilst avoiding the stigma of conviction.    
 

18. There have been 30 applications for Divert from Charge so far in Gateshead. 12 
have been approved and 18 have been returned to the Officer in charge of the case. 

 
Diversion - Outcome 22 

19. Outcome 22 continues to be used as an Out of Court disposal.  This intervention is a 

deferred prosecution, meaning the young person will not come through the formal 
criminal justice system unless they fail to comply with the programme.  This intervention 

has been extremely successful in reducing the number of first-time entrants. 
 

Page 55



 

20. In the past 12 months 192 Outcome 22 interventions have been delivered which has 
had a significant impact on diverting young people away from the Criminal Justice 

System. Only 4 young people during this time have failed to comply. 
   
Targeted Prevention - Outreach 

21. Gateshead Youth Justice Service funded The REAL (Relate, Engage and Listen) 
Project during the summer which delivered targeted outreach youth work in areas across 

the Borough for three evenings a week.  The aim of the Project was to engage with 
young people in recognised locations of concern to offer safe faces, support, and 
guidance alongside signposting to specialist services. Locations of concern were 

identified via the multi-agency Operational Planning and Tasking Group co-ordinated by 
Community Safety. 
 
Priority 4 
22. Ensure education teams effectively meets the needs of young people within 

the criminal justice system  

We are going to continue to complete deep dive education audits twice a year to be able 

to monitor the progress of how we are responding to the needs of children.  This work 
will include looking at attendance, placement, exclusion and SEND.  The YJS will 
continue to work with schools and education providers, we will also advocate on behalf 

of young people at the various education panels that we attend for the benefit of our 
children.   

 
Progress  

23. The Youth Justice Service Manager is an active member of education panels 

including, fair access, complex pupils, exclusion and SEND. Education, training, and 
employment status is assessed with each young person in YJS, and support offered in 

response to individual need. 
 
24. In December 2021 a thematic review of Education, Training and Employment began.  

As part of the HMIP methodology all Youth Justice Services were asked to complete a 
short Survey.  At the time of the review, the findings were as follows:-   

 
18% of children had an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP). 
 

56% of young people open to the YJS were identified as having Special Educational 
Needs or have received SEND Support 

 
65% of children of school age were attending a pupil referral unit or receiving alternative 
provision. 

 
0% of the children of school age were not in school/a pupil referral unit/alternative 

provision. 
 
52% of children over school leaving age were not in education, employment, or training 

(NEET). 
 

25. The Youth Justice Service, along with IAG and education partners undertake joint 
reviews of education for statutory and post statutory age young people and report 
regularly to the Gateshead Youth Justice Board.  
 
Priority 5 

26. Promote the health and wellbeing of young people in the Youth Justice 
System  

Page 56



 

There is a health needs assessment of children open to YJS that has just began. A deep 
dive of cases has taken place in August and October with the CCG and YJS, this will 

help us to understand the needs of our children in Gateshead.   Looking at the health 
needs of this cohort it is hoped that we will be able to identify what other health provision 
is needed within the service and work with our partners to provide some additionality.  

 
Progress 

27. An in-depth review of case files took place between the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and Youth Justice Service; this allowed a greater understanding of the needs of 
this cohort of young people.   Referrals for young people to access support around 

mental health and emotional wellbeing are triaged via the single point of access.  The 
Children Young People Service Community Clinical Manager sits on the Gateshead 

Youth Justice panel and meets with commissioners regularly to continuously review and 
update the on the demand for services.  
 

28. The Clinical Commissioning Group have been working closely with the Youth Justice 
Service to identify training and development opportunities to upskill YJS staff and 

enhance the support we offer to young people.  As part of this work, we are working with 
North East Counselling Service and Speech and Language colleagues.  It is anticipated 
that further development of trauma informed practice will ensure we can respond to low 

level emotional needs of young people without having to refer or sign post them to other 
agencies.   
 

29. Plans are in place to develop the Enhanced Case Management Model within YJS 
which would ensure young people are supported with input from psychology services.  

This approach has been effective in reducing offending and promoting engagement and 
it is fundamental to the trauma recovery model, an approach already embedded in YJS 
delivery.  

 
Priority 6 

30. Support young people transitioning between Children’s and Adults Service 

The newly formed post of a Probation Support Officer will help young adults who fall out 
of the transition arrangements to have the support put in place that they need to ensure 

compliance with probation orders and reduce re-offending.  This work is being monitored 
by Gateshead YJS.   

 
Progress  

31. The overriding objective of the Joint National Protocol for Transitions in England and 

behind an effective transition process is that it should be managed safely both for the 
child and their community.  Whilst there are limited restrictions on the type of youth 

statutory orders that can be transferred to the Probation Service, where the child meets 
the age eligibility threshold, what remains fundamental is the need to jointly assess the 
appropriateness of the child's transfer.  

 
32. The seconded Probation Officer takes responsibility for the high-risk cases and 

young people over 16 years old who are likely to transition to the Probation Service.  
There are service level agreements in place and regular meetings take place to monitor 
this area of work. The Probation Officer within the Youth Justice Service holds 

appropriate cases and enhances the service that can be given to young people 
approaching adulthood. National review of resource modelling (2017) confirmed 

deployment of Probation Officer (0.7 FTE) and Probation Service Officer (0.3 FTE) to 
enhance the effectiveness of the joint Probation Service /Youth Justice Service delivery. 
In Gateshead 7 hours per week Probation Support Officer resource is allocated to 

support transition between youth and adult services.  The Probation Service will 

Page 57



 

continue to develop its collaboration with the YJS to ensure the joint framework supports 
these aims. 

 
33. Probation Officer and Probation Support Officer resource deployed to Gateshead 
Youth Justice Service will help young adults who fall out of the transition arrangements 

to have the support put in place that they need to ensure compliance with adult orders 
and reduce reoffending. This work is being monitored by Gateshead Youth Justice 

Service. 
 
Priority 7 

34. Understand and intervene with young people experiencing criminal 
exploitation.    

County lines and the Criminal Exploitation of young people continues to be a concern.  
Gateshead YJS will work with voluntary and statutory partners to ensure that information 
is shared approptley and resources are used to help support these vulnerable young 

people  
 
Progress 

35. Gateshead Youth Justice Service is an active partner at the Missing, Slavery, 
Exploitation and Trafficking panel.  Young people at risk of exploitation are supported by 

the Youth Justice Service and referrals made to appropriate services.  There is an 
ongoing Complex Abuse Enquiry in relation to several children and young people 
suspected in being involved in drug dealing, violence and driving offences.  This group 

of young people are being monitored by a number of agencies to try and safeguard them 
and identify those exploiting them.   

 
Priority 8 
36. Understand Serious Youth Violence in Gateshead and what can be done to 

reduce harm to the public and manage the risk.   

Knife Crime and the use of weapons will feature in the intervention planning that we do 

in the coming 24 months.   
 
Progress 

37. Gateshead Youth Justice Service along with partners have completed a stocktake of 

serious youth violence.  The Serious Youth Violence (SYV) Stocktake is an optional 
method of self-assessment that provides YJS managers with the opportunity and means 

to reflect on the service they and their partners provide. It is designed to help them see 

gaps and strengths in work and reduce serious youth violence. The data showed some 
areas where further work can be completed to develop our response to Serious Youth 

Violence.  Northumbria Police are currently being inspected by Her Majesty’s 

Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) in relation to 
Serious Youth Violence, the Gateshead Youth Justice Service Manager has been 

interviewed as part of this work.  

 
38. Offence performance information is regularly scrutinised by the performance 

subgroup and Gateshead Youth Justice Board.  Performance information from January 

to December 2021 is below, this information is split to consider the offending of Looked 
After Children. 

 

 

LAC Non-Lac 

Offence Type No. % No. % 

Arson 1 1% 0 0% 

Criminal Damage 5 5% 4 4% 

Page 58



 

Domestic Burglary 1 1% 2 2% 

Drugs 0 0% 5 5% 

Motoring Offences 0 0% 26 28% 

Public Order 2 2% 6 6% 

Racially Aggravated 0 0% 2 2% 

Sexual Offences 0 0% 1 1% 

Theft And Handling Stolen Goods 1 1% 3 3% 

Vehicle Theft / Unauthorised Taking 1 1% 4 4% 

Violence Against The Person 10 11% 19 20% 

Totals: 21 23% 72 77% 

 
   
Priority 9 
39. Build our understanding of the specific problems faced by young people in 

Gateshead  

Disproportionality of Black, Asian and minority ethnic children will continue to be 
monitored through the performance subgroup and reported to the board. 
 
Progress 

40. Gateshead’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) estimates that around 3.7% (7,500) 
of the population are from a black and minority ethnic (BAME) group. The BAME population has 
increased from around 1.6% in 2001. In order to understand if BAME children were over-
represented in the Gateshead some work was undertaken to profile the ethnicity of those 
children and young people who were involved with Gateshead Youth Justice Service between 
April 2017 and August 2020. The local analysis showed that between April 2017 and August 
2020: 
672 children and young people were open to the service, of which 19 (2.8%) had a BAME 

background 
2.8% with a BAME background is lower than the Gateshead BAME population estimate of 

3.7% in the JSNA, suggesting BAME young people are not overrepresented in the Gateshead 
YJS cases 

 
 
Performance Update 

 

41. The latest data for April 2021 to March 2022 shows the 12-month rate of Custody for 

Gateshead at 0.06, this represents 1 custodial sentence in the 12-month period. This is 

significant reduction on the previous 12 months. 

 

April 2021 to March 2022 

  Apr – Jun 
Jul – 
Sep 

Court 
Disposals for 

period 

Oct – 
Dec 

Jan - 
Mar 

Court 
Disposals for 

period 
Total 

No of YPs 0 1 
59 

0 - 
28 

1 

Custody Rate 0 0.06 0 - 0.06 

April 2020 to March 2021 

  Apr – Jun 
Jul – 
Sep 

Court 
Disposals for 

period 

Oct – 
Dec 

Jan - 
Mar 

Court 
Disposals for 

period 
Total 

No of YPs 0 1 

84 

1 2 

88 

4 

      

Custody Rate 0 0.06 0.06 0.12 0.24 
        

Page 59



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Re-Offending 

 

42. The cohort is made up of 118 young people (young people receiving all Out of Court 

Disposals and court sentences).  The tracker is live and at this point only 3 young people 

have re-offended. This rate compares favourably with other years but will need to be 

monitored over time for an accurate reflection on the previous data. 

 

Cohort 
No. of 
Young 
People 

No. Young 
People 

Reoffending 

No. of Young 
People NOT 
re-offending 

Re-offending 
% 

No. of 
further 

offences 

Reoffences 
Per 

Reoffender 
Rate 

 2021/22 Statutory 28 2 26 8% 5 2.5 
 

              
 

2021/22 - Non-
Statutory 

90 1 89 1.1% 1 1 
 

              
 

2021/22 - 
Combined 

118 3 115 2.54% 6 2 
 

 
 

       

 

First Time entrant have dropped significantly since the introduction of Outcome 22. 
 

56 48 39
18 16

177

0

50

100

150

200

FTE Annual Totals 
2017/18 to 2021/22

 

Page 60



 

 
 

 
 
Recommendations 

43. The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to; 
 

(i) Continue to request regular updates on the key priorities. 
(ii) Consider what can be done by the Corporate Parenting Board to support the 

Gateshead Youth Justice Board. 

(iii) Note and comment on the contents of this report. 
(iv) Identify any areas of work which the committee would be interested in receiving 

updates about. 
 
 

 

 Contact: Emma Blackwell                                                      Extension: 4583 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



      

 
 
 
TITLE OF REPORT: Overview of Performance and Activity of the Adopt North 

East Regional Adoption Agency 2020/21  
 

REPORT OF:  Andrea Houlahan, Deputy Strategic Director, 

Children’s Social Care and Early Help 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
This report provides an overview of the Performance and Activity of Adopt 

Northeast in relation to Gateshead children.  
  

 
Introduction 

 
1. This Overview Report provides a summary of developments for the period 1 April 

2020 to 31 March 2021, the second full operational year of Adopt North East 

Regional Adoption Agency.  

 

Background 

 

2. Adopt North East is a shared service arrangement between Gateshead Council, 

Newcastle City Council, Northumberland County Council, North Tyneside Council 

and South Tyneside Council. The partnership was created in response to a legal 

requirement established by the Education and Adoption Act 2016 that Local 

Authorities cease local provision of adoption services and instead share delivery on 

a regional basis.  

 

3. In the Summer of 2018, the respective Cabinets of all five partner Local 

Authorities agreed to the formation of Adopt North East as a single Adoption 

Agency which would operate across the geographical area of the partners and 

delegated the statutory adoption functions of each Local Authority to it.  

 

4. On 1 December 2018, Adopt North East became operational, working to the 

vision and ambition established by the five partners to achieve ‘excellent adoption 

services that transform children’s and families lives for the better’. 

 

5. As a consequence of regionalisation, since December 2018 Adopt North East 

has had responsibility for recruiting, assessing, and supporting prospective 

adopters, for non-Adopt agency work and intercountry adoptions and primary 

   

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 

10 March 2022 

    

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



responsibility for family finding for all children with adoption plans from the five 

partner Local Authorities.  

 

6. Additionally, Adopt North East is responsible for providing support to all parties 

affected by adoption, including adopters, adoptive families, adopted adults and birth 

relatives.  

 
Overview of Performance 

 

7. As we know, 2020/2021 was dominated by the Covid-19 pandemic which 

impacted all work aspects of the Adopt North East . As the Adopt North East  

provides services for children, adoptive families and those affected by adoption 

required by law, these could not be suspended.  

 

8. Adopt North East therefore had to innovate, often at pace, and do things 

differently. By far the most fundamental change to services during the year, 

particularly in the first few months of the pandemic, was the transition from face-to-

face assessment and support to alternative delivery methods, principally a move 

online. Whilst undoubtedly challenging, Adopt North East  can report considerable 

success in doing so.  

 

9. An example would be the continued operation of its Adoption Panel, without 

which children in the care of its partner Local Authorities would be unable to move 

children onto permanency with their forever families. Within days of the lockdown, 

Adopt North East moved to a virtual Panel and continued to ensure that timely 

decisions for children were made, and families found.  

 

10.At the same time, support for adoptive families experiencing difficulties 

continued, with assessments of need progressing virtually to avoid delay and 

ensuring that families were able to access therapeutic support.  

 

11.Despite the challenges presented by Covid, the staff group have been 

determined to ensure that high quality adoption services have continued to be 

delivered - albeit differently – and the performance management information for the 

year evidence that Adopt North East has not only maintaining services but in fact 

significantly exceeding the performance achieved in the previous year.  

 
12. During its second full year of operation, between 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, 

Adopt North East has on behalf of its five partner Local Authorities: 

 
• Matched 142 children, up from 100 in 2019/20, a 42% increase  

• Placed 137 children, up from 104 in 2019/20, a 32%  increase 

• Supported 106 children to be adopted, up from 81 in 2019/20, a 31% 

increase 

• Tripled the use of Early Permanence Placements, from 5 in 2019/20 to 15 

Page 64



• Commenced 132 prospective adoptive families at Stage 1 of the process, up 

from 98 in 2019/20, a 35% increase 

• Completed Stage 1 for 135 prospective adopters, up from 86 in 2019/20, a 

57%  increase 

• Commenced 133 prospective adoptive families at Stage 2, up from 100 in 

2019/20, an 33% increase 

• Approved 106 adopters, up from 88 in 2019/20, a 20% increase 

• Matched 121 adoptive families with children, up from 112 in 2019/20, an 8% 

increase 

• Supported 545 families with post-adoption support, up from 488, a 12% 

increase 

• Tripled the amount of pre-Adoption Order adoption support to families 

• Supported 681 children with post adoption indirect contact (Post Box) 

• Supported 107 birth families affected by adoption 

The Potential of Regionalisation 

 

13. The 2019/2020 Annual Report concluded that ‘the development of Adopt North 

East into an established, effective and transformative adoption agency is far from 

complete’. Despite strong performance, this Overview Report repeats this assertion.  

 

14. The first year of operation was very much about the formation of Adopt North 

East as a provider of adoption services, then its second year has been very much 

about consolidation, Covid-19 notwithstanding.  

 

15. Adopt North East has particularly benefitted from securing a full, permanent 

staff team, ending its use of agency Social Workers and carrying no vacancies. It 

has also focused on the development and refinement of its operating model, 

underpinned by clear policies and procedures and the establishment of a robust 

performance management framework.  

 

16. Whilst Adopt North East has not yet fully realised the potential that 

regionalisation of services presents, there are genuine signs that it will do so, 

evidenced for example by increased use of Early Permanence Placements,  the 

hosting of Activity Days to find families for children who have additional complexity, 

the effective commissioning of over £1.2 million of nationally funded therapeutic 

support for adoptive families, the strength of its Panel, the tenaciousness of its 

Family Finding, the recruitment of a diversity of adopters and an increasing 

reputation as an adoption agency of choice for prospective adopters in the North 

East. 

 
 

 Page 65



 
Areas for Development 

 

17. There are undoubted areas for development for the partnership. Adopt North 

East has not yet achieved sufficiency of adopters for the children referred to it, 

evidenced by the continued use of inter-agency placements for some children. As 

each of these placements incurs a nationally agreed fee which is paid by the child’s 

Local Authority to the adopters’ agency , the use of adopters represents a financial 

challenge to the partnership.  

 

  18. Accordingly, it is a strategic priority of Adopt North East to become sufficient. 

Work by the RAA National Leaders Group suggests an average reported sufficiency 

nationally of 69%, whilst of the three established Regional Adoption Agencies within 

the North East, Adopt North East is the highest performing at 73% (Adopt Tees 

Valley 63% and Adopt Coast to Coast at 56%).  

 

19. To better inform the partnership about the challenges to sufficiency, an analysis 

of each of the 37 children placed in inter-agency placements was undertaken by the 

Operational Leadership Group of Adopt North East. This has led to a number of 

actions that will be implemented to improve sufficiency. 

 

   20. Another significant area of development is that Adopt North East  is not yet as 

strong a learning organisation as it will need to be to deliver excellence, for 

example, learning from Disruptions – the premature end of a child’s adoptive 

placement – has not been collated and disseminated in a systematic way.  

 

 21. Likewise, Adopt North East has not fully obtained and utilised feedback from             

those it serves to improve or consult with service users on its future design and 

delivery. It is perhaps this latter area of development – the need for Adopt North 

East to become a more effective learning organisation – that provides the roadmap 

for the third year of operation. Following formation and consolidation, Adopt North 

East will now very much turn to strengthening its quality of practice.  

 

 Celebrating Progress 

 

   22. Finally, it is often difficult to summarise in a brief report an entire year let alone         
communicate the difference Adopt North East  makes to those with whom we work. 

However, an adoptive couple kindly decided to summarise their reflections in writing 
and these reflections perhaps best illustrate the progress made by Adopt North 

East :-   
 

We both cannot express our gratitude and thanks enough to every 

single person of Adopt North East who we have been fortunate to 
come in to contact with. We only have admiration and praise for them 

all. Their professional manner – nothing was and still is never a 
problem.  They have always communicated efficiently.  They have 
shown empathy alongside good humour as suited to the occasion. 

How they do what they do is totally beyond me, but we are very 
thankful they do as without them our adoption experience would not Page 66



have been as good. You have a wonderful team of dedicated 
professionals. Thank you. 

 
 
Recommendations  

 

23. Corporate Parenting Board is asked to note the contents of the report.  
 

 
 

 

Contact: Andrea Houlahan                                                          Extension: 2782 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Parenting Board - Work Programme 2022-23 
 

Meeting Date / Time Items to be considered/Officer Responsible 
24 May 2022 
 

 Children Homes Update and Regulation 44 Report  

 Performance Overview  

 Children and young people’s participation  
 Children Protection and Children in Need Annual Joint 

Report  

 Gateshead Safeguarding Children’s Partnership Annual 
Report  

 Contextual Safeguarding and Child Exploitation  

 Health Report (inc Health Appointment Pilot? / 
regional benchmarking?)  

 GAP Analysis  
 Children in need of Care Strategy  

 

20 September 2022 
 

 Corporate Parenting Partnership Action Plan  
 Financial Education for Children in Care/Care Leavers  

 Work of Young Ambassadors  

 Initiatives in Schools inc Social Workers in Schools  
 Placement Sufficiency Annual Report  

 Missing From Home Annual Report  

 Sufficiency Strategy  
 

20 December 2022 
 

 Children Home Update and Regulation 44 Report 

 Education Annual Report  
 Adoption Service Annual Report  

 Care Leavers Annual Report  

 Health of LAC Annual Report  
 Early Permanence Annual Report  

 Performance Overview  
 

28 February 2023 
 

 Corporate Parenting Partnership Action Plan  

 Learning from Inspections, Peer Reviews and Learning 
Reviews Annual Report  

 Cared for and Care Experienced Children with SEND / 
EHCPs  

 MSET Annual Report  

 IRO Service Annual Report  

 Youth Justice Service Update  
 Children Home Update and Regulation 44 Report  

 

Issues to be slotted in: 

Items for 2023/24 work programme: 

 

 

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of last meeting
	2 Workforce Development and Training
	3 MSET Annual Report
	4 Safeguarding Children Unit - Annual Report
	5 Learning from Inspections, Peer Reviews and Learning Reviews Annual Report
	Ofsted Report - Ready or Not

	6 Youth Justice Service Update
	7 Regional Adoption Agency Report
	8 2022/23 Draft Work Programme

